
Anyone requesting auxiliary aids or services is asked to contact 

the Administration Department five business days prior to the meeting. 

 

 AGENDA 

Town of Hooksett Town Council 

Wednesday, November 6, 2019 at 5:00 PM 

 

  

A meeting of the Town Council will be held Wednesday, November 6, 2019 in the Hooksett Municipal Building 
commencing at 5:00 PM.  

Page 
 
1. CALL TO ORDER  
 
2. PROOF OF POSTING  
 
3. ROLL CALL - ATTENDANCE  
 
4. NON-PUBLIC SESSION #1 NH RSA 91-A:3 II  
 
5. PUBLIC SESSION WILL BEGIN IMMEDIATELY FOLLOWING THE NON-PUBLIC 

SESSION NOTED ABOVE 
 

 
6. PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE  
 
7. AGENDA OVERVIEW  
 
8. PUBLIC HEARINGS  
 
9. SPECIAL RECOGNITION  
 
 9.1. Hooksett Youth Achiever of the Month   
 
 9.2. Hooksett Municipal Employee - New Hire   
 
10. SCHEDULED APPOINTMENTS  
 
 10.1. Sandra Mack, President, Hooksett Kiwanis, Regarding Winter Carnival   

Staff Report - SR-19-190 - Pdf 

5 

 
11. CONSENT AGENDA  
 
 11.1. Surety Release for 36 Churchill Drive-DAR Builders, LLC  

Staff Report - SR-19-183 - Pdf 

7 - 11 

 
12. TOWN ADMINISTRATOR'S REPORT  
 
13. PUBLIC INPUT - 15 MINUTES  
 
14. NOMINATIONS AND APPOINTMENTS  
 
15. BRIEF RECESS  
 
16. OLD BUSINESS  
 
 16.1. Removal of TAXICAB Ordinance, Other Ordinances, #00-20  

Staff Report - SR-19-184 - Pdf 

13 - 25 

 
 16.2. Energy Efficiency Exemption (ie Solar Energy) (tabled at 10/09/19 Town 

Council Meeting)  
NH SOLAR AND WINDS 

27 - 35 

 
 16.3. Town of Hooksett Health Insurance for Elected Officials (tabled at 10/23/19 37 - 51 

Page 1 of 96



 

Anyone requesting auxiliary aids or services is asked to contact 

the Administration Department five business days prior to the meeting. 

Town Council Meeting)  
Staff Report - SR-19-189 - Pdf 

ADM CODE ELECTED 110619 

2020 NON-UNION HEALTH INSURANCE RATE SHEET 

2020 DENTAL INSURANCE RATES 

2020 retiree health ins premiums 010120 

2020 retiree dental ins premiums 010120 
 
 16.4. FY 2020-21 Budget and Warrant Articles  

Staff Report - SR-19-188 - Pdf 

53 - 55 

 
17. NEW BUSINESS  
 
 17.1. Winter Carnival - Hooksett Kiwanis Sponsored Event  

Staff Report - SR-19-191 - Pdf 

57 

 
 17.2. Quarterly Financial Report for September 30, 2019  

Staff Report - SR-19-187 - Pdf 

59 - 67 

 
 17.3. Lambert's Park Pavilion Project  

Staff Report - SR-19-185 - Pdf 

69 - 81 

 
18. APPROVAL OF MINUTES  
 
 18.1. Public: 10/23/2019  

tc_minutes_102319 

83 - 96 

 
 18.2. Non-Public: 10/23/2019   
 
19. SUB-COMMITTEE REPORTS  
 
20. PUBLIC INPUT  
 
21. NON-PUBLIC SESSION #2 NH RSA 91-A:3 II  
 
22. ADJOURNMENT  
 
 PUBLIC INPUT 

1. Two 15-minute Public Input sessions will be allowed during each Council 
Meeting. Time will be divided equally among those wishing to speak, 
however,no person will be allowed to speak for more than 5 minutes. 

2. No person may address the council more than twice on any issue in any 
meeting.Comments must be addressed to the Chair and must not be personal 
or derogatory about any other person. 

3. Any questions must be directly related to the topic being discussed and must 
be addressed to the Chair only, who after consultation with Council and Town 
Administrator, will determine if the question can be answered at that time. 
Questions cannot be directed to an individual Councilor and must not be 
personal in nature. Issues raised during Public Input, which cannot be resolved 
or answered at that time, or which require additional discussion or research, 
will be noted by the Town Administrator who will be responsible for researching 
and responding to the comment directly during normal work hours or by 
bringing to the Council for discussion at a subsequent meeting. The Chair 
reserves the right to end questioning if the questions depart from clarification to 
deliberation. 

4. Council members may request a comment be added to New Business at a 
subsequent meeting.  

 

Page 2 of 96



 

Anyone requesting auxiliary aids or services is asked to contact 

the Administration Department five business days prior to the meeting. 

5. No one may speak during Public Input except the person acknowledged by the 
Chair. Direct questions or comments from the audience are not permitted 
during Public Input. 

 

 

Page 3 of 96



Page 4 of 96



Town Council 
STAFF REPORT 

 
 
To: Town Council 
Title: Sandra Mack, President, Hooksett Kiwanis, Regarding Winter Carnival  
Meeting: Town Council - 06 Nov 2019 
Department: Administration 
Staff Contact: Nick Germain, Project Coordinator 
 
BACKGROUND INFORMATION: 
Last year, Town Council approved the use of municipal property for a Winter Carnival event 
organized by the Hooksett Kiwanis.  
  
his year, Sandra Mack, President of the Hooksett Kiwanis, has requested to meet with Council to 
again discuss a Winter Carnival.  
  
Minutes say that last year Council approved the Town Administrator to work with Department heads 
and Kiwanis regarding the event. There was also talk of referring Kiwanis to the Parks and Recreation 
Advisory Board. 
  
Kiwanis apparently provided a debrief and met with the Parks and Recreation Advisory Board last 
year to discuss things that worked well and some challenges.  
   
 
FINANCIAL IMPACT: 
n/a - may require staff time to facilitate set-up for the event at some level 
 
POLICY IMPLICATIONS: 
N/A 
 
RECOMMENDATION: 
Listen to Hooksett Kiwanis President talk about the event. 
 
SUGGESTED MOTION: 
N/A - If required, act on the request later under new business.  
 
TOWN ADMINISTRATOR'S RECOMMENDATION: 
Concur 
 
 

Agenda Item #10.1.

Page 5 of 96



Page 6 of 96



Town Council 
STAFF REPORT 

 
 
To: Town Council 
Title: Surety Release for 36 Churchill Drive-DAR Builders, LLC 
Meeting: Town Council - 06 Nov 2019 
Department: Community Development 
Staff Contact: Leann Fuller, Community Development Clerk 
 
BACKGROUND INFORMATION: 
Prior to the issuance of a Certificate of Occupancy, a certified plot plan is required to be submitted to 
the Building Department. At that time, it was found that the 75-foot protective well radius was out of 
the property line by 0.7 feet at 36 Churchill Drive. This is prohibited per the Town of Hooksett 
Development Regulations 11.13 (3) "Private wells shall include a 75-foot protective well radius...The 
entire well radius must be contained within the property lines." The developer submitted a $6,000 
surety because the Planning Board waiver had not been attained yet. The Development Regulations 
require a waiver be granted by the Planning Board and the Release Form for Protective well Radii 
form provided by the State of NH Department of Environmental Services must be recorded at the 
Merrimack Registry of Deeds.  
  
The Planning Board waiver was granted at their meeting on Monday, October 21st, 2019. The 
abutters were notified for that meeting. The abutter at lot 12-24-29 is owned by someone other than 
the developer and did not present any comments at the Planning Board meeting.  
The Release Form for Protective Well Radii was signed and recorded at the Merrimack Registry of 
Deeds on August 18, 2019.   
 
RECOMMENDATION: 
Recommend the release of the $6,000 cash surety to DAR Builders, LLC.  
 
SUGGESTED MOTION: 
Motion to release the $6,000 cash surety to DAR Builders, LLC.  
 
TOWN ADMINISTRATOR'S RECOMMENDATION: 
Concur- The Council chairmen was called and asked to see if his ( 39 churchill)  CO could be issued on 10/11 
instead of having to wait till 10/21 for the Planning board to waive the well radius issue and that the only way 
for this to happen was requesting the 6,000 bond from developer.  I believed that since CO had been issued 
previously before that to accommodate this future citizen we should assist. 
 
ATTACHMENTS: 
36 Churchill As-Built 
36 Churchill Drive E-mail to Release TCO 
36 Churchill Drive NHDES Waiver 
 

Agenda Item #11.1.

Page 7 of 96



 

Agenda Item #11.1.

Page 8 of 96



v xo—m.ea um IxJ>5'd».gL()T1u m m m A\ dwg. Moan‘. 9H7/znm :2 4: m m 3.,V91§.9£NHOOKSETT'§€:°s‘»’JA3"§E?"

+7/?5A7’
20' /-/EMLDCA’

ss:>'zT§os"E

I

LOT 12—24——29

275.00’
A-I-

/
M.N.,,UMaiuuumms
SETBACKLINE(TY?)

EXISTINGHOUSE
UNDER CONSTRUC110N
LOCATED ON SEPT. 13. 2019

LOT 12-24-30

0.95 Ac.
41.250 S.F.

LOT 12-24--51

DRAINAGE,SLOPE dc
UTILITYEASEMENT
SEE PLAN REF. \

I
PROPANE -

HEAD l
APPROX SEPTIC
SEE PLAN REF. 2

SEPTIC
VENT I

03%

(UNDERcowsmucnom) ‘
L TI
APPROX DR
UNDERGROUND DfvuTILITIES

275.00‘ MA/S //v
IJFANSFU/PA/E/?

.oo'o3)’\_’“f—‘Y§‘§’9i

I
5 PED

cnv

DPEDI
I

0
I
c
:0
o
:1:
.33
F
U
72
<rn

\$1RANS

PLAN REFERENCES_
"Si/ED/W3/0/VPLANS "SUMMITWEW"$0U77-/ BOW ROAD,
/-/00/(SE77/90W, NEW /-/AMPS/7’//?[ PREPAREDFOP
SIERL/N6 HOMES:LAC"D/172'.‘ AUGUST /9, 21771 L/157'
/PEWSED 7-70-14 MC./?.D. PL/1/V ,}’2(77¢000/5.357.

77-/ESEFWC 5YS7Z'M SHOWN HEREON /5 BASED UPON
/I//-/DES APP/?0|/AL 96‘/12079070807

I HEREBY CER11FYTHAT THE FOUNDATION SHOWN
HEREON WAS LOCATED BY AN ACTUALFIELDSURVEY
AND THAT THE LOCATIONCOMPLIES IMTHTHE
SETBACKSAS APPROVED ON THE ABOVE REFERENCED
PLAN.

/& 7/I7/IL
ERIC C‘ MITCHELLLLS N0 595 DATE

L‘[R77f7E0 F107 Pl/W

MAP 12 LOT 24-80
86 CHURCHILL DRIVE
HOOKSETT, NH

SCALE: 1” = 40,‘ SEPT. 17, 2019
PREPAREDBY

ERIC C. MITCHELL AND ASSOC. INC.
PLANNING— ENGINEERING— SURVEYING— ENVIRONMENTAL

P.0.BOX10295, 106 so.RIVERRD., EEDFORD.NHosnovozsa(603)627-1181

DWG: LOT 150 FLD. BK PG: 560 62 JOE NO. 15-45

A
genda Item

 #11.1.

Page 9 of 96



Leann Fuller

From: Andre Garron
Sent: Tuesday, October 15, 2019 8:57 AM

To: Nicholas Williams; Leann Fuller
Cc: Matthew Lavoie; Kathy Lawrence
Subject: RE:36 Churchill Well Radius Bond

Nicholas,

On Friday, October 11, at the employee picnic, Chairman Jim Sullivan, shared his conversation
with Matt Lavoie, Kathy Lawrence and me regarding Mr. O’Ma||ey, 36 Churchill Road, about a
well radius issue. The issue being that Mr. O’Malley’s well radius, due to the placement of the
well, overlaps onto the abutting parcel. This issue has been before Town Council before
because Council has the authority to release the bond. This item has been debated at length at

Council meetings and it was recommended by staff not accept a bond for the well radius and
allow the planning board to decide whether not to grant a waiver for the well radius.

Unfortunately,the situation has presented itself again. I spoke with the homeowner and
explained the history of the well radius bond and voice my disappointment with the developer
for putting the homeowner in this situation. Mr. and Mrs. O’Ma||ey are currently residing in a
hotel awaiting our decision about granting a temporary certificate of occupancy (TCO). I have
decided to'authorize the Community Development Department and Building Department to

grant the TCO.The well radius waiver request for 36 Churchill Road is scheduled for the
October 21,’2019Planning Board meeting. The TCO will be granted until October 22,2019.

Avwlré

Andre L. Garron, Town Adx11i11isl'rator ,
’Town of Hooksett
35 Main Street
Hooksctt, NH 03106
603-485-1184 office
agarron@hooksett. org

From: NicholasWilliams
Sent: Tuesday, October 15, 2019 8:06 AM
To: Leann Fuller
Cc: Andre Garron

(

Subject: RE: 36 Churchill Well Radius Bond

Agenda Item #11.1.

Page 10 of 96



EFilcd 201900016920 Recorded in Merrimack County, NH In the Records of Susan Cragin, Register

BK: 3646 PG: 2701, 9/18/2019 11:09 AM RECORDING 510.00 SURCI-IARGE $2.00

Return to: Accurate Title, 170 S. River Rd, Bedford, NH 03110

State of New Hampshire
DEPARTMENT OF ENVIRONMENTAL SERVICES

Subsurface Systems Bureau
29 I-lazen Drive; PO Box 95, Concord, NH 033020095

603-271-3501 FAX 603-2716683

Release Form For Protective Well Radii
RSA 485—A:30—b

This form must be typewritten and all signatures must be in black ink

CHECK ONE: MNon—conformingOriginal Placement Change in Well Location

For Property owned by DAR BUILDERS, LLC

Owner mailing address305 MASSABESIC STREET. MANCHESTER; NH 03103

Property location 36 CHURCHILL DRIVE Town/City HOOKSETT

County of MERRIMACK [as described in deed dated JUNE 29"‘,2017

Recorded at Book 1, Page Z?, Tax Map 1_2_,Lot M

Subdivision Approval No. 201400015387 Construction Approval No. eCA20l 9010807

- I understand that my well will be located closer than the recommended extent of a protective well
radius to my property line. (75’ for up to 750 GPD if a dug/shallow or drilled well.)

- I understand that current state law does not protect my well beyond the boundary of my property and

I

, that the rules of the Department of Environmental Services allow a leach?eld to be installed as close
as 10 feet to the property line which may result in aleach?eld on abutting property being installed
closer than 75 feet to my well.

- I understand that I cannot prevent a leach?eld from being installed on abutting property within 10
feet of the property boundary solely on the basis of my Well location.

- I understand that with proper well construction, including drilling the well into bedrock,casing the
well and sealing the casing, the risk of contamination from any leanh?eld closer than 75 feet to my
well can be minimized. -

— I understand have no cause of action against the State of New Hampshire or any owner of the '

abutting property comescontaminated as a result of thedecreased setback distance.
X / A_\//1Owner’s Signature: ("I j 5 1/(7

1 /9 Déte ’

C,’
1

.-
Type or Pnm Name Regmald J. Moreau

Owner’s Signature:
_‘

Date
Type or PnntName

*** IF THE ON—LOTPROTECTIVE WELL RADIUS IS LESS THAN THE OPTIMUM PRESCRIBED
STANDARD, TI-HSRELEASE FORM SHALL BE RECORDED IN THE REGISTRY OF DEEDS. A COPY
OF THE RECORDED FORM MUST BE SENT TO THE DEPARTMENT OF ENVIRONMENTAL SERVICES
AND TO THE CODE ENFORCEMENT OFFICER OR OTHER MUNICIPAL OFFICIAL.

Rev. 11/99

Agenda Item #11.1.

Page 11 of 96



Page 12 of 96



Town Council 
STAFF REPORT 

 
 
To: Matthew Lavoie 
Title: Removal of TAXICAB Ordinance, Other Ordinances, #00-20 
Meeting: Town Council - 06 Nov 2019 
Department: Community Development 
Staff Contact: Kathy Lawrence, Community Development Clerk 
 
BACKGROUND INFORMATION: 
In 2017 HPD found it unlawful to conduct such "motor vehicle record check and criminal background 
check" as required with ordinance #00-20 section 2.5. Queen City Taxi has been Hooksett's only 
applicant for 13 years and paid in excess of $300.00. The change in "Ride Share" has evolved to 
many other options for residents and those ride share options come to Hooksett from out of town do 
not have to comply. It has been the opinion of past administrators and HPD that the Other Ordinance 
#00-20 is out dated. 
 
FINANCIAL IMPACT: 
$300.00 
 
POLICY IMPLICATIONS: 
Has been determined that section 2.5 is unlawful 
 
RECOMMENDATION: 
Other Ordinance #00-20 TAXICAB Ordinance: This is a 3 step process for Town Council to introduce 
the following: 
1. Council 1st meeting: October 9th - Staff report with "Other Ordinance" new ordinances, 
amendments or removal. Councilor introduces item, then go to (#2) or item has failed. 
Action-Moved to #2 
2. Council 2nd meeting: October 23rd- Staff report and public hearing as posted in local newspaper 
and distributed, if Council moves forward after public hearing input, then go to (#3) or item has failed. 
Action-Moved to #3 
3. Council 3rd meeting: November 6th staff report and Council vote on "Other Ordinance", new 
ordinances, amendments or removals - if majority vote, item passes, if not item fails 
End results, the removal of Other Ordinances #00-20 TAXICAB Ordinance with Strikethrough 
 
SUGGESTED MOTION: 
Motion to approve the removal of, Other Ordinance #00-20 TAXICAB Ordinance, effective November 
6th 2019.  
 
TOWN ADMINISTRATOR'S RECOMMENDATION: 
Concur 
 

Agenda Item #16.1.

Page 13 of 96



ATTACHMENTS: 
Taxicab Ordinance 
Taxicab Ordinance with strikethrough 
Taxicab ordinance legal opinion 
 
 

Agenda Item #16.1.

Page 14 of 96



TAXICAB
ORDINANCE # 00-20

The Town of Hooksett ordains that, pursuant to the authority granted under section 3.6 of the 
Hooksett Town Charter, the following ordinance is hereby enacted in the Town of Hooksett:

SECTION 1
DEFINITION

1.1  The word "taxicabs" as used in this section shall mean any rubber-tired motor 
vehicle, having a manufacturers rated capacity of not more than ten (10) passengers, used in 
the call and demand transportation of passengers for compensation to or from points chosen or 
designated by the passengers and not operated on a fixed schedule, between fixed termini, or 
any such vehicle leased or rented, or held for leasing or renting, with or without driver or 
operator.

SECTION 2
APPLICATION

2.1  Applications for a Town of Hooksett Taxicab Permit for the purpose of engaging in 
the business of operating a taxicab or taxicabs shall be made to the Town of Hooksett upon a 
form to be determined by the Town of Hooksett.

2.2  Applications for a Town of Hooksett Taxicab permit shall include:

(a)  The applicants name
(b)  The applicants home address
(c)  The applicants home telephone number
(d)  The trade name under which the applicant proposes 
       to do business
(e)  The business address
(f)  The business telephone number

2.3  Each motor vehicle to be used as a taxicab in the applicants Town of Hooksett 
Taxicab Permit will include:

(a)  The vehicle owners name
(b)  The vehicle owners address
(c)  The vehicle owners telephone number
(d)  A complete description of each vehicle to be used
      including proof of motor vehicle registration

2.4  Each taxicab operator to be used in the applicants Town of Hooksett Taxicab Permit 
for the purpose of engaging in the operation of a taxicab or taxicabs in the Town of Hooksett will 
include:

(a)  The operators full name
(b)  The operators home address
(c)  The operators home telephone number
(d)  Proof of a valid New Hampshire Operators License

2.5  Upon receipt of the Town of Hooksett Taxicab Permit Application, the Town of 
Hooksett shall submit the list of taxicab operators to the Hooksett Police Department for a motor 
vehicle record check and a criminal record check.

Agenda Item #16.1.

Page 15 of 96



2.6  After a review of the Town of Hooksett Taxicab Permit Application to determine its 
compliance with this ordinance, and, within thirty working days of the receipt of the application, 
the Town shall either issue a Town of Hooksett Taxicab Permit or notify the applicant that the 
application information does not comply with the requirements of this ordinance, specifically 
identifying what information has not been furnished which is required before a Town of Hooksett 
Taxicab Permit can be issued.

SECTION 3
OUT OF TOWN TAXICABS

3.1  Taxicab businesses located outside of the Town of Hooksett who operate taxicab 
services in the Town of Hooksett by picking up passengers, will be required to apply for, submit 
and complete all of the requirements in the Town of Hooksett taxicab Ordinance.

SECTION 4
INSURANCE

4.1  Before a Town of Hooksett Taxicab Permit is issued by the Town of Hooksett, each 
applicant must submit to the Town of Hooksett:

     A certificate of insurance shall be provided to the Town of Hooksett showing that the 
applicant has been issued an insurance policy by an insurance company licensed to do 
business in the State of New Hampshire, protecting the licensee and taxicab operators from all 
claims for damages to property and bodily injury, including death which may arise from 
operations under or in connection with the Town of Hooksett Taxicab Permit.  Such insurance 
shall provide that the policy shall not terminate or be canceled prior to the expiration date except 
with thirty (30) days advance written notice to the Town of Hooksett.  Such policy shall provide 
coverage in the amounts of at least one half million dollars ($500,000.00) per single occurrence.

SECTION 5
PERMIT FEES

5.1  For each applicant applying as a trade name for a Town of Hooksett Taxicab Permit, 
a fee of fifty dollars ($50.00) shall be submitted with the application.

5.2  For each vehicle to be utilized in the Town of Hooksett Taxicab Permit, the applicant 
shall submit with the application a fee of twenty-five dollars ($25.00).

5.3  For each operator listed in the Town of Hooksett Taxicab permit, the applicant shall 
submit with the application a fee of ten dollars ($10.00).

5.4  All fees are to be paid to the Town of Hooksett with the application when it is 
submitted to the Town of Hooksett.

    SECTION 6
PERMIT EXPIRATIONS AND RENEWALS

6.1  The Town of Hooksett Taxicab Permit is an annual permit and all of the 
requirements in the permit will expire on December 31st at 11:59 pm of each year.

6.2  When original application or renewal application is made after July 1st of each year, 
one half of each required fee  amount is paid rather than the full amount.

Agenda Item #16.1.

Page 16 of 96



6.3  When renewing the Town of Hooksett Taxicab Permit, all fees are required with the 
submission of the renewal of the application with the exception of section 5.1 only.

SECTION 7
RECORD REQUIREMENTS

7.1  Each taxicab business with a Town of Hooksett Taxicab Permit shall be required to 
keep a log detailing, at the minimum on a daily basis the time and place of each pickup, the time 
and place of each discharge and the fare charged therefore.  The log shall be maintained in 
order by date at the principal place of business of each taxicab business for the current calendar 
year and for the calendar year immediately preceding the current calendar year and shall be 
made available, upon request for review by any law enforcement agency.

SECTION 8
DISPLAY OF PERMIT

8.1  The Town may prescribe the form of permit for the Town of Hooksett Taxicab 
Permit.  The Town of Hooksett Taxicab Permit shall bear the name of the applicant, the trade 
name and address of the taxicab business, each vehicle listed on the application to be used as 
a taxicab, each taxicab driver listed on the application and shall have printed permanently 
thereon:  "This Town of Hooksett Taxicab Permit is not an endorsement by the Town of 
Hooksett or any of its officers or employees".

8.2 The Town of Hooksett Taxicab Permit shall at all times be conspicuously displayed 
in the cab of the taxicab so that it can be seen by a passenger in either day or night.

8.3  The applicant shall indicate the number of permit copies needed, as one is needed 
for each vehicle utilized.

8.4  Along with each permit and permit copy required, the Town may prescribe a colored 
sticker to be placed on the rear bumper of each taxicab utilized.  The sticker shall be issued 
annually along with the application and/or renewal of the application.  The color of the sticker 
shall change annually indicating the new year and the validity of the sticker.

SECTION 9
TAXIMETERS

9.1  Every taxicab in the Town of Hooksett shall be equipped with a mechanical 
instrument or device commonly called a taximeter, approved by the Sealer of Weights and 
Measurers, by which the charge for hire of such taxicab is mechanically calculated and on which 
such charge is shown by clear and distinct figures under adequate light.

9.2  Each taximeter shall be inspected by the State Sealer of Weights and Measurers on 
an annual basis.  Inspection shall also be required whenever the tire size changes during 
replacement of a tire or tires.

9.3  The taximeter utilized in each taxicab shall have an inspection expiration of 
September 30th of each year.  Each taximeter must be inspected within ninety (90) days of 
September 30th of each year, but not after September 30th of each year.  The inspection shall 
be conducted by the State of New Hampshire Division of Weights and Measures, Sealer of 
Weights and Measures.  The only other time during the year when the taximeter shall be 
inspected is if the tire or tires are changed to a different size.  If the tire or tires are changed, but 
remain the same size, it is not necessary to have the taximeter inspected.

Agenda Item #16.1.

Page 17 of 96



9.4  Cars for hire used for conveying passengers for attendance at marriages, funerals, 
christenings, or for use in ceremonial parades need not be equipped with a taximeter.

SECTION 10
RATE CARDS

10.1  Upon the issuance of a Town of Hooksett Taxicab Permit, the trade name owner 
shall issue to each taxicab listed on his/her application a rate card which shall have the rates of 
the taxicab business.

10.2  The rate card shall be conspicuously displayed in every taxicab so that it can be 
seen by a passenger in either day or night.

SECTION 11
RATES

11.1  Taximeter rates shall be determined only by mileage and not by time with the 
exception of being required to wait for a period of time by the passenger employed.

11.2  Mileage rates shall remain the same from the origination point to the destination 
point even when crossing Hooksett boundary lines.

11.3  Surcharge rates shall remain at a reasonable rate.

11.4  The surcharge rate which is charged at the origination point shall be the only 
surcharge rate incurred.  When entering Hooksett there will not be an additional surcharge 
added onto the mileage rate.

SECTION 12
CONSENT OF PASSENGER NEEDED FOR CARRYING OTHERS

12.1  No taxicab operator shall carry any person other than the passenger first 
employing the taxicab without the consent of the first passenger.

12.2  Any taxicab agent at any railroad station, bus terminal, or public place, before 
directing a second passenger to a taxicab employed, shall ask the person first employing the 
taxicab if they consent to another passenger or passengers.

SECTION 13
PROHIBITIONS

13.1  It shall be unlawful for any person, partnership, cooperation or association to 
engage in the business of operating a taxicab in the Town of Hooksett without first having 
secured the required Town of Hooksett Taxicab Permit.

13.2  It shall be unlawful for any taxicab, who has obtained a Town of Hooksett Taxicab 
Permit, to operate in the Town of Hooksett while violating any of the sections in this ordinance.

Agenda Item #16.1.

Page 18 of 96



SECTION 14
PENALTY

14.1  Any violation of the terms in this ordinance shall be punishable by a fine of fifty 
dollars ($50.00) for each day that such violation is found to continue.

ADOPTED:  12/8/93
AMENDED:  05/28/03

Agenda Item #16.1.

Page 19 of 96



TAXICAB
ORDINANCE # 00-20

The Town of Hooksett ordains that, pursuant to the authority granted under section 3.6 of the 
Hooksett Town Charter, the following ordinance is hereby enacted in the Town of Hooksett:

SECTION 1
DEFINITION

1.1  The word "taxicabs" as used in this section shall mean any rubber-tired motor 
vehicle, having a manufacturers rated capacity of not more than ten (10) passengers, used in 
the call and demand transportation of passengers for compensation to or from points chosen or 
designated by the passengers and not operated on a fixed schedule, between fixed termini, or 
any such vehicle leased or rented, or held for leasing or renting, with or without driver or 
operator.

SECTION 2
APPLICATION

2.1  Applications for a Town of Hooksett Taxicab Permit for the purpose of engaging in 
the business of operating a taxicab or taxicabs shall be made to the Town of Hooksett upon a 
form to be determined by the Town of Hooksett.

2.2  Applications for a Town of Hooksett Taxicab permit shall include:

(a)  The applicants name
(b)  The applicants home address
(c)  The applicants home telephone number
(d)  The trade name under which the applicant proposes 
       to do business
(e)  The business address
(f)  The business telephone number

2.3  Each motor vehicle to be used as a taxicab in the applicants Town of Hooksett 
Taxicab Permit will include:

(a)  The vehicle owners name
(b)  The vehicle owners address
(c)  The vehicle owners telephone number
(d)  A complete description of each vehicle to be used
      including proof of motor vehicle registration

Agenda Item #16.1.

Page 20 of 96



2.4  Each taxicab operator to be used in the applicants Town of Hooksett Taxicab Permit 
for the purpose of engaging in the operation of a taxicab or taxicabs in the Town of Hooksett will 
include:

(a)  The operators full name
(b)  The operators home address
(c)  The operators home telephone number
(d)  Proof of a valid New Hampshire Operators License

2.5  Upon receipt of the Town of Hooksett Taxicab Permit Application, the Town of 
Hooksett shall submit the list of taxicab operators to the Hooksett Police Department for a motor 
vehicle record check and a criminal record check.

2.6  After a review of the Town of Hooksett Taxicab Permit Application to determine its 
compliance with this ordinance, and, within thirty working days of the receipt of the application, 
the Town shall either issue a Town of Hooksett Taxicab Permit or notify the applicant that the 
application information does not comply with the requirements of this ordinance, specifically 
identifying what information has not been furnished which is required before a Town of Hooksett 
Taxicab Permit can be issued.

SECTION 3
OUT OF TOWN TAXICABS

3.1  Taxicab businesses located outside of the Town of Hooksett who operate taxicab 
services in the Town of Hooksett by picking up passengers, will be required to apply for, submit 
and complete all of the requirements in the Town of Hooksett taxicab Ordinance.

SECTION 4
INSURANCE

4.1  Before a Town of Hooksett Taxicab Permit is issued by the Town of Hooksett, each 
applicant must submit to the Town of Hooksett:

     A certificate of insurance shall be provided to the Town of Hooksett showing that the 
applicant has been issued an insurance policy by an insurance company licensed to do 
business in the State of New Hampshire, protecting the licensee and taxicab operators from all 
claims for damages to property and bodily injury, including death which may arise from 
operations under or in connection with the Town of Hooksett Taxicab Permit.  Such insurance 
shall provide that the policy shall not terminate or be canceled prior to the expiration date except 
with thirty (30) days advance written notice to the Town of Hooksett.  Such policy shall provide 
coverage in the amounts of at least one half million dollars ($500,000.00) per single occurrence.

SECTION 5
PERMIT FEES

5.1  For each applicant applying as a trade name for a Town of Hooksett Taxicab Permit, 
a fee of fifty dollars ($50.00) shall be submitted with the application.

5.2  For each vehicle to be utilized in the Town of Hooksett Taxicab Permit, the applicant 
shall submit with the application a fee of twenty-five dollars ($25.00).

Agenda Item #16.1.

Page 21 of 96



5.3  For each operator listed in the Town of Hooksett Taxicab permit, the applicant shall 
submit with the application a fee of ten dollars ($10.00).

5.4  All fees are to be paid to the Town of Hooksett with the application when it is 
submitted to the Town of Hooksett.

    SECTION 6
PERMIT EXPIRATIONS AND RENEWALS

6.1  The Town of Hooksett Taxicab Permit is an annual permit and all of the 
requirements in the permit will expire on December 31st at 11:59 pm of each year.

6.2  When original application or renewal application is made after July 1st of each year, 
one half of each required fee  amount is paid rather than the full amount.

6.3  When renewing the Town of Hooksett Taxicab Permit, all fees are required with the 
submission of the renewal of the application with the exception of section 5.1 only.

SECTION 7
RECORD REQUIREMENTS

7.1  Each taxicab business with a Town of Hooksett Taxicab Permit shall be required to 
keep a log detailing, at the minimum on a daily basis the time and place of each pickup, the time 
and place of each discharge and the fare charged therefore.  The log shall be maintained in 
order by date at the principal place of business of each taxicab business for the current calendar 
year and for the calendar year immediately preceding the current calendar year and shall be 
made available, upon request for review by any law enforcement agency.

SECTION 8
DISPLAY OF PERMIT

8.1  The Town may prescribe the form of permit for the Town of Hooksett Taxicab 
Permit.  The Town of Hooksett Taxicab Permit shall bear the name of the applicant, the trade 
name and address of the taxicab business, each vehicle listed on the application to be used as 
a taxicab, each taxicab driver listed on the application and shall have printed permanently 
thereon:  "This Town of Hooksett Taxicab Permit is not an endorsement by the Town of 
Hooksett or any of its officers or employees".

8.2 The Town of Hooksett Taxicab Permit shall at all times be conspicuously displayed 
in the cab of the taxicab so that it can be seen by a passenger in either day or night.

8.3  The applicant shall indicate the number of permit copies needed, as one is needed 
for each vehicle utilized.

8.4  Along with each permit and permit copy required, the Town may prescribe a colored 
sticker to be placed on the rear bumper of each taxicab utilized.  The sticker shall be issued 
annually along with the application and/or renewal of the application.  The color of the sticker 
shall change annually indicating the new year and the validity of the sticker.

SECTION 9
TAXIMETERS

Agenda Item #16.1.

Page 22 of 96



9.1  Every taxicab in the Town of Hooksett shall be equipped with a mechanical 
instrument or device commonly called a taximeter, approved by the Sealer of Weights and 
Measurers, by which the charge for hire of such taxicab is mechanically calculated and on which 
such charge is shown by clear and distinct figures under adequate light.

9.2  Each taximeter shall be inspected by the State Sealer of Weights and Measurers on 
an annual basis.  Inspection shall also be required whenever the tire size changes during 
replacement of a tire or tires.

9.3  The taximeter utilized in each taxicab shall have an inspection expiration of 
September 30th of each year.  Each taximeter must be inspected within ninety (90) days of 
September 30th of each year, but not after September 30th of each year.  The inspection shall 
be conducted by the State of New Hampshire Division of Weights and Measures, Sealer of 
Weights and Measures.  The only other time during the year when the taximeter shall be 
inspected is if the tire or tires are changed to a different size.  If the tire or tires are changed, but 
remain the same size, it is not necessary to have the taximeter inspected.

9.4  Cars for hire used for conveying passengers for attendance at marriages, funerals, 
christenings, or for use in ceremonial parades need not be equipped with a taximeter.

SECTION 10
RATE CARDS

10.1  Upon the issuance of a Town of Hooksett Taxicab Permit, the trade name owner 
shall issue to each taxicab listed on his/her application a rate card which shall have the rates of 
the taxicab business.

10.2  The rate card shall be conspicuously displayed in every taxicab so that it can be 
seen by a passenger in either day or night.

SECTION 11
RATES

11.1  Taximeter rates shall be determined only by mileage and not by time with the 
exception of being required to wait for a period of time by the passenger employed.

11.2  Mileage rates shall remain the same from the origination point to the destination 
point even when crossing Hooksett boundary lines.

11.3  Surcharge rates shall remain at a reasonable rate.

11.4  The surcharge rate which is charged at the origination point shall be the only 
surcharge rate incurred.  When entering Hooksett there will not be an additional surcharge 
added onto the mileage rate.

SECTION 12
CONSENT OF PASSENGER NEEDED FOR CARRYING OTHERS

12.1  No taxicab operator shall carry any person other than the passenger first 
employing the taxicab without the consent of the first passenger.

Agenda Item #16.1.

Page 23 of 96



12.2  Any taxicab agent at any railroad station, bus terminal, or public place, before 
directing a second passenger to a taxicab employed, shall ask the person first employing the 
taxicab if they consent to another passenger or passengers.

SECTION 13
PROHIBITIONS

13.1  It shall be unlawful for any person, partnership, cooperation or association to 
engage in the business of operating a taxicab in the Town of Hooksett without first having 
secured the required Town of Hooksett Taxicab Permit.

13.2  It shall be unlawful for any taxicab, who has obtained a Town of Hooksett Taxicab 
Permit, to operate in the Town of Hooksett while violating any of the sections in this ordinance.

SECTION 14
PENALTY

14.1  Any violation of the terms in this ordinance shall be punishable by a fine of fifty 
dollars ($50.00) for each day that such violation is found to continue.

ADOPTED:  12/8/93
AMENDED:  05/28/03

 

Agenda Item #16.1.

Page 24 of 96



From: Legal Inquiries [mailto:legalinquiries@nhmunicipal.org] 
Sent: Thursday, October 03, 2019 11:03 AM
To: Kathy Lawrence
Subject: Hooksett: Removal of Taxi Cab Ordinance

Good morning Kathy, 

I’m not aware of any other towns removing their Taxi Ordinance, but, I assume, with the rise of Uber 
and Lyft that some have considered updating their ordinance to reflect changes in the taxi industry. 
Obviously, however, if the ordinance no longer has any real effect or targets an industry which has so 
changed that it no longer is useful, there is no point in keeping it on the books. 

Please let me know if I can provide any further information.

Natch Greyes, Esq.
Municipal Services Counsel
NH Municipal Association
25 Triangle Park Drive
Concord NH  03301
Tel: (603) 224-7447
Email: legalinquiries@nhmunicipal.org 

From: Kathy Lawrence <KLawrence@hooksett.org> 
Sent: Wednesday, October 2, 2019 5:22 PM
To: Legal Inquiries <legalinquiries@nhmunicipal.org>
Subject: Removal of Taxi Cab Ordinance

Good afternoon,

We are in the process of requesting our Town Council remove the Taxi Cab 
ordinance. Hooksett has had the ordinance for more than 35 years and most aspects 
of the ordinance are outdated. Do you know of any precedence of other towns 
removing this ordinance or reason why not to remove it. I am trying to prepare for 
any questions Town Council may have in this request.

Thank you
Kathy Lawrence
Community Development
Administrative Assistant

Agenda Item #16.1.

Page 25 of 96

mailto:legalinquiries@nhmunicipal.org
https://www.nhmunicipal.org/annualconference
mailto:KLawrence@hooksett.org
mailto:legalinquiries@nhmunicipal.org


Page 26 of 96



References to NH Solar and \flind Laws

Items highlighted ¡n ffi are what is being proposed for adoption in Hooksett. These are for
solar and wind (turbines / mills). This document captures the other references to laws.

New Hampshire Statutes
Table of Contents

CHAPTER 72: PERSONS AND PROPERW LIABLE TO TAXATION
httn.//www. oencourl.stale. nh. us/rsa/html/NHTOCiNHTOC-V-72. hirn

Procedure for Adoption (excerpt below)
htto:l/'www. gS:ncouri. state. nh. us/¡'sa/html/V172172-27-a. htm

TITLE V. TAXATION . CHAPTERT?
PERSONS AND PROPERTY LIABLE TO TAXATION - Property Taxes

T2:27 -aprocedure for Adoption, 
"oo,offiion. -

l. Any town or city may adopt the provisions of RSA 72:28, RSA 72:28-b, RSA 72:29-a, RSA
72:35, RSA 72:37, RSA 72:37-b, RSA 72:38-b, RSA 72:39-a,
72:70, RSA 72:76, or RSA 72:82 in the following manner:

(a) ln a town, other than a town that has adopted a charter pursuant to RSA 49-D, the
questíon shall be placed on the warrant of a special or annual town meeting, by the
governing body or by petition pursuant to RSA 39:3.
(b) ln a city or town that has adopted a charter pursuant to RSA 49-C or RSA 49-D, the
legislative body may consider and act upon the question in accordance with its normal
procedures for passage of resolutions, ordinances, and other legislation. ln the
alternative, the legislative body of such munícipality may vote to place the question on
the official ballot for any regular municipal election.

ll. The vote shall specify the provisions of the property tax exemption or credit, the amount of
such exemption or credit, and the manner of its determination, as listed in paragraph l. lf a
majority of those voting on the question vote "yes," the exemption or credit shall take effect
within the town or city, on the date set by the governing body, or in the tax year beginning April 1

following its adoption, whichever shall occur first.

lll. A municipality may modify, if applicable, or rescind the exemption or credits provided in
paragraph I in the manner described in this sectíon.

lV. An amendment to a statutory provision listed in paragraph I related to an exemption or credit
amount or to the eligibility or application of an exemption or credit, shall apply in a municipality
which previously adopted the provision only after the municipality complies with the procedure in

this section, unless otherwise expressly required by law.

Source.2003,299:1;299:23.2004,170:3.2008,224:3, eff. July 1,2008.2016,217:2, eff. Aug
8, 2016. 2017 , 179:1, eff. Aug. 28, 2017.

RSA

1

Agenda Item #16.2.

Page 27 of 96



References to NH Solar and \Mnd Laws

72:27-a Procedure for Adoption, Modification, or Rescission. -
l. Any town or city may adopt the provisions of RSA 72:28, RSA 72:28-b, RSA 72:29-a, RSA
72:35,RSA72:37,RsA72:37.b,RSA72:3&b,RSA72:39.a,xn,m,RSA
V2:70, RSA 72:76, RSA 72:82, or RSA 72:85 in the following manner:

(a) ln a town, other than a town that has adopted a charter pursuant to RSA 49-D, the
question shall be placed on the warrant of a special or annualtown meeting, by the
governing body or by petition pursuant to RSA 39:3.
(b) ln a city ortown that has adopted a charter pursuant to RSA 49-C or RSA 49-D, the
legislative body may consider and act upon the question in accordance with its normal
procedures for passage of resolutions, ordinances, and other legislation. ln the
alternative, the legislative body of such municipality may vote to place the question on
the ofücial ballot for any regular municipal election.

ll. The vote shall speciff the provisions of the property tax exemption or credit, the amount of
such exemption or credit, and the manner of its determination, as listed in paragraph l. lf a
majority of those voting on the question vote "yes," the exemption orcredit shalltake effect
within the town or city, on the date set by the governing body, or in the tax year beginning April 1

following its adoption, whichever shall occur first.

lll. A municipality may modify, if applicable, or rescind the exemption or credits provided in
paragraph I in the manner described in this section.

lV. An amendment to a statutory provision listed in paragraph I related to an exemption or credit
amount orto the eligibility or application of an exemption or credít, shall apply in a municipality
which previously adopted the provision only after the municipality complies with the procedure in

this section, unless otherwise expressly required by law.

Source, 2003, 299:1;299:23.2004, 170:3.2008, 224:3, eff. July 1, 2008. 2016,217:2, eff. Aug
8,2016. 2017,179:1, eff. Aug. 28,2017.2019,327'3, eff. Oct. 15,2019.

CHAPTER Rev 400 PROPERTY TAX CREDITS, EXËMPTIONS AND DEFERRALS
http:l/www.gencourt. state. nh. usirules/state-agencies/rev400. html

Definition:
Rev. 401.27 "Solar energy system" means "solar energy system" as defined in RSA 72:61,
namely "a system which utilizes solar energy to heat or cool the interior of a building or to heat
water for use in a building and which includes one or more colledors and a storage container.
'Solar energy system' also means a system which provides electricity for a building by the use
of photovoltaic panels."

2

Agenda Item #16.2.

Page 28 of 96



References to NH Solar and Wind Laws

PART Rev 402 GENERAL INFORMATION

Rev 402.02 Types of Optionâl Property Tax Credits and Exemptions. A municipality may adopt,

rescind, or modify, if applicable, the following property tax credits and exemptions pursuant to

RSA72:27-a:
(a) Optional veterans' tax credit pursuant to Rev 403'
(b) All veterans'tax credit pursuant to Rev 404;

(c) Optional service-connected total and permanent disability tax credit pursuant to Rev

405;
(d) Optional surviving spouse tax credit pursuant to Rev 406;
(e) Exemption for the disabled pursuant to Rev 410;

(f¡ Exemption for deaf or severely hearing impaired persons pursuant to Rev 411;

(g) Exemption for the blind pursuant to Rev 413;
(h)

(i)

(j) Exemption for woodheating energy systems pursuant to Rev 416.

Source. #5911 , eff 10-14-94; ss and moved by #7410, etl 11-2ï00 (from Rev 402.03); (See

Revision Note at chapter heading for Rev 400) #9309, eff 10-30-08 (from Rev 402.04); ss by

#12027, eff 10-28-16

PART Rev414 EXEMPTION FOR SOLAR ENERGY SYSTEMS

Rev 414.01 Exemption for Solar Energy Systems.
(a) An applicant shall not be entitled to the exemption for solar energy systems pursuant to

unless:
(1) The applicant's real estate is located in a municipality that has adopted the
exemption for solar energy systems; and
(2) The applicant owns real estate which is equipped with a solar energy system.

(b) The amount of the exemption for solar energy systems shall be equal to:

(1) 100% of any increase in the assessed value of the applicant's residential real estate

resulting from the solar energy system; or
(2) A dollar amount adopted by the municipality.

(c) The exemption for solar energy systems shall apply only in the tax years during which the

solar energy system is funclioning.

Source. #12027, eff 10-28-16

PART Rev415 EXEMPTION FOR WIND-POWERED ENERGY SYSTEMS

Rev 415.01 Exemption for \Mnd-Powered Energy Systems.
(a) An applicant shall not be entitled to the exemption for wind-powered energy systems

pursuant to ffi unless:
(1) The applicant's real estate is located in a municipality that has adopted the
exemption for wind-powered energy systems; and

and

3

Agenda Item #16.2.

Page 29 of 96



References to NH Solar and Wind Laws

(2) The applicant owns real estate which is equipped with a wind-powered energy
system.

(b) The amount of the exemption for wind-powered energy systems shall be equalto:
(1) 100% of any increase in the assessed value of the applicant's residential real estate
resulting from the wind-powered energy system; or
(2) A dollar amount adopted by the municipality.

(c) The exemption for wind-powered energy systems shall apply only in the tax years during
which the wind-powered energy system is functioning.

Section 72t29
72:29 Definitions. -
l. The word "resident" as used in RSA 72:28 , RSA 72:28-b, and RSA 72:28-c shall mean a
person who has resided in this state for at least one year preceding April 1, in the year in which
the tax credit is claimed.

ll. The term "residential real estate" for the purposes of RSA 72:28-34, inclusive, shall mean the
real estate which the person qualified for an exemption or a tax credit thereunder occupies as

his principal place of abode together with any land or buildings appurtenant thereto and shall
include manufactured housing if used for said purpose.

lll. "Exemption" as used in RSA 72 shall mean the amount of money to be deducted from the
assessed valuation, for property tax purposes, of real property.

lV. The term "tax credit" as used in RSA 72 shall mean the amount of money to be deduded
from the person's tax bill.

V. The term "surviving spouse" as used in RSA 72 shall not include a surviving spouse that has
remarried, but if the surviving spouse is later divorced, his or her status as the surviving spouse
of a veteran is regained. lf the surviving spouse remarries and the new husband or wife dies, he

or she shall be deemed the widow or widower of the latest spouse and shall not revert to the
status of a surviving spouse of a veteran.

Vl. For purposes of RSA 72:28,28-b,28-c,29-a, 30, 31, 32,33, 35, 36-a, 37, 37-a, 37-b, 38-a,

39-a, 62, 66, and 70, the ownership of real estate, as expressed by such words as "owner,"
"owned" or "own," shall include those who have placed their property in a grantor/revocable

trust or who have equitable title or the beneficial interest for life in the subject property.

Vll. The term "theater of operations service medal" for the purposes of RSA 72:28-34 shall
mean any medal, ribbon, or badge awarded to a member of the armed forces which establishes

that the member served in a theater of war or armed conflict, as determined by the director of
the division of veterans services with written notification to the department of revenue
administration.

4

Agenda Item #16.2.

Page 30 of 96



References to NH Solar and \Mnd Laws

Source. 1947 , 240:1, par. 29-9. RSA 72:29. 1955, 289:4, 1963, 118:2. 1991 , 70:9, 10. 1993,

73:4. 1994, 102:1; 390:7. 1995, 265:12. 2004, 170:2; 238:1. 2010, 119:7. 2011, 138:1, eff. April

1,2011.2016,217:3,5, eff.4u9.8,2016. 2018,151'.2,3, eff. Jan. 1,2019.2019,273:7,eff.
Sept. 17, 2019.

ÏITLE V - TAXAÏION . CHAPTER 72
PERSONS AND PROPERW LIABLE TO TAXATION - Property Taxes

Section 72:33
http:i/www.qencoqrt. state. nh, uslrsaihtml/V/72l72-33. htm

72:33 Application for Exemption or Tax Credit. -
L No person shall be entitled to the exemptions or tax credits provided by RSA 72:28, 28-b,
28-c,29-a,30, 31 , 92,35,36-a, 37, 37-a, 37-b,38-b, 39-b, æ, m and 70 unless the person

has filed with the selectmen or assessors, by April 15 preceding the setting of the tax rate, a
permanent application therefor, signed under penalty of perjury on a form approved and
provided by the commissioner of revenue administration, showing that the applicant is the true

and lawful owner of the property on which the exemption or tax credit is claimed and that the

applicant was duly qualified upon April 1 of the year in which the exemption or tax credit is first
claimed, or, in the case of financial qualifications, that the applicant is duly qualified at the time

of application. The form shall include the following and such other information deemed

necessary by the commissioner:
(a) lnstructions on completing and filing the form, including an explanation of the
grounds for requesting tax exemptions and credits pursuant to RSA 72.
(b) Sections for information concerning the applicant, the property for which the relief is
sought, and other properties owned by the person applying.
(c) A section explaining the appeal procedure and stating the appeal deadline in the
event the municipality denies the fax relief request in whole or in part.

(d) A place for the applicant's signature with a certification by the person applying that

the application has a good faith basis and the facts in the application are true.

l-a. lf any person, otherwise qualified to receive an exemption or credit, shall

satisfy the selectmen or assessors that he or she was prevented by accident,

mistake, or misfortune from filing a permanent application or amended
permanent application on or before April 15 of the year in which he or she

desires the exemption to begín, said officials may receive the application at a
later date and grant an exemption or credit for that year; but no such application

shall be received or exemption or credit granted after the local tax rate has been

approved for that year.

l-b. Notwithstanding the April 15 application deadline in paragraph l, a person

may apply for the tax credit for combat servíce under RSA 72:28-c at any point

during the tax year ín which the person is engaged in combat service. lf the

application is received and granted after the tax rate for the city or town is set,

the credit shall be applied to the balance of tax payments due for that year. lf a

5

Agenda Item #16.2.

Page 31 of 96



References to NH Solar and Wind Laws

person is deemed eligible for the tax credit after taxes have been billed and paid

for the tax year in which the person seryed, the credit shall be applied in the
following year.

ll. Any person who changes residence after filing such a permanent application shall file an
amended permanent application on or before December 1 immediately following the change of
residence. The filing of the permanent application shall be sufficient for said persons to receive
these exemptions or tax credits on an annual basis so long as the applicant does not change
residence.

lll. lf the selectmen or assessors are satisfied that the applicant has willfully made any false
statement in the application to obtain an exemption or tax credit, they may refuse to grant the
exemption or tax credít.

lV. lRepealed.]

V. ln addition to the above requirements, applicants for exemption who claim ownership
pursuant to RSA 72:29, Vl shallfile with their application an additional statement signed under
penalty of perjury, on a form approved and provided by the commissioner of revenue
administration, showing they meet the requirements of RSA 72:29,Y1.

Vl. The assessing officials may require applicants for any exemption or tax credit to file the
information listed in RSA 72:34, or the statement required by RSA 72:33, V periodically but no
more frequently than annually. Failure to file such periodic statements may, at the discretion of
the assessing officials, result in a loss of the exemption or tax credit for that year.

Source. 1947,240:1, par.29-d. RSA72:33. 1969,55:1. 1973,544:8.1977,502:1. 1983, 155:8;
385:1. 1987,325:1.1991,70:14.1994, 102:2;390:3,8. 1995,265:3,20. 1996, 140:7.1997,
281:1.2003, 131:1;299:6, 25,26.2007,182:3, eff. April 1,2007.2016,217:6, eff.4u9.8,2016
2018, 151:4,5, eff. Jan, 1 ,2019.

Section 72:34
http://www. gencourt.state. nh. us/rsa/html/V/72l72-34. htm

T2zS4lnvestigation of Application and Decision by Town Officials. -
l. On receipt of an application provided for in RSA 72:33 or RSA 72'.38-a, the selectmen or
assessors shall examine it as to the right to the tax exemption, tax deferral or tax credit, the
ownership of the property listed, and, if necessary the encumbrances reported.

ll. For those exemptions having income or asset limitations, the assessing officials may request
true copies of any documents as needed to verify eligibility. Unless otherwise provided for by
law all documents submitted with an application or as requested, as provided for in paragraphs
I and ll, and any copies shall be considered confidential, handled so as to protect the privacy of
the individual, and not used for any purpose other than the specific statutory purposes for which

6

Agenda Item #16.2.

Page 32 of 96



References to NH Solar and Wind Laws

the information was originally obtained. All documents and copies of such documents submitted
by the applicant shall be returned to the applicant afier a decision is made on the application.

lll. The assessing officials shall grant the exemption, deferral, or tax credit if:

(a) They are satísfied that the applicant has not willfully made any false statement in the
application for the purpose of obtaining the exemption, deferral, or tax credit; and
(b) The applícant cooperated wíth their requests under paragraph ll, if it appfies.

lV. On or before July 1 priortothe date of notice of tax under RSA 72:1-d, the selectmen or
assessors shall send by first class mail a written decision to any taxpayer who timely requests

an exemption or tax credit. On or before July 1 following the date of notice of tax under RSA
72:1-d, the selectmen or assessors shall send by first class mail a written decision to any

taxpayer who timely requests a deferral. This decision shall be sent on a form to be prepared by

the department of revenue administration. The decision shall advise the taxpayer of the
municipality's decision and shall inform the taxpayer of the appeal procedure set forth in RSA
72:34-a. Failure to respond shall constitute denial. Municipalities may, at their option, require the
taxpayer to furnish a self-addressed envelope with sufficient postage for the mailing of this
written decision.

Source. 1947,240:1,par.29-e. RSA 72:34. 1969, 183:1. 1981, 188:1. 1991,7Q:15,16. 1995,

265:4. 2003, 299:7 . 2004, 170:4.2006, 30:1, efi. June 3, 2006.

Section 72:34-a
http://www. sencourt. state. n h. us/rsaihtml/V/72l72-34-a. htm

72234-aAppeal From Refusal to Grant Exemption, Deferral, or Tax Credit. -
Wheneverthe selectmen or assessors refuse to grant an applicant an exemption, deferral, or
tax credit to which the applicant may be entitled under the provisions of RSA 72:23,23-d,23-e,
23-f ,23-9,23-h,23-i,23-j,23-k, 28,28-b,28-c,29-a,30, 31 , 32,35,36-a, 37, 37-a, 37-b, 38-a,

38-b, 39-a, 39-b, 41 ,42,62,66, or 70 the applicant may appeal in writing, on or before

September 1 following the date of notice of tax under RSA 72:1-d, to the board of tax and land
appeals or the superior court, which may order an exemption, deferral, or tax credit, or an

abatement if a tax has been assessed.

Source. 1969, 183:2.1973,544:13.1975,127:2.1982,42:88.1983, f 55:9. 1987,325:2.1991,
70:17; 306:8. 1994, 390:5. 1995, 265:5. 1996, 140:8. 2003, 131:2, eff. April 1, 2003. 2016,
217:7 , eff. Aug. 8, 2016. 2018, 151:6, eff. Jan. 1, 2019.

7

Agenda Item #16.2.

Page 33 of 96



Town of Hoolcsett
WARRANT ARTICLE REOUEST FORM

Date of Requesfi November 6, 2019 Date of Town Meeting: November 6, 2019

Name of Department Submitting Request: TBD

1. Please provide the wordinb of the proposed article.

Shall the town adopt the provisions of RSA 72:61 through RSA 72:64 inclusively, which
provide for an optional property tax exemption from the property's assessed value, for
property tax purposes, for persons owning real property, which is equipped with solar
energy systems intended for use at the immediate site. Such property tax exemption
shall be in the amount equal to 100% of the assessed value of qualiffing solar energy
system equipment under these statutes, not to exceed $30,000. (Majority vote required)

2. WhAt is the intent and purpose of article?

The intent of this article is to provide a tax incentive for the development of renewable
energy, specifically solar energy.

The goal of the exemption is to create a tax neutral policy within the town of Hooksett
that neither increases an individual's property tax, nor decreases the municipality's
property tax revenues.

By implementing it as a tax neutral policy, homeowners do not have a disincentive of
higher property taxes for installing a renewable energy system, and since there is no net
reduction in municipal tax revenues, other taxpayers in a municipality are not affected.

3. lf this article is not passed at Town Meeting or approved by the Town Council,
what affect would this have on iour department goals and programs?

lf this article is not passed, the town will continue to ignore incentives made available by
state statutes for adopting renewable resources.

1

Agenda Item #16.2.

Page 34 of 96



4. Estimated cost?

No cost to the town of Hooksett.

5. ls any further information necessary for the deliberation?

None.

2

Agenda Item #16.2.

Page 35 of 96



Page 36 of 96



Town Council 
STAFF REPORT 

 
 
To: Town Council 
Title: Town of Hooksett Health Insurance for Elected Officials 
Meeting: Town Council - 06 Nov 2019 
Department: Administration 
Staff Contact: Donna Fitzpatrick, Administrative Services Coordinator 
 
BACKGROUND INFORMATION: 
The Town Council, at their meeting of 10/23/19, discussed an agenda item for active Town Council members "governing 
body elected officials" to be added as a new group on the Town's health insurance (medical and dental).  This agenda 
item was added at the request of a sitting Councilor.  HealthTrust (the Town's insurance broker for our Anthem medical 
plans and Delta dental plans) provided their current by-laws on elected officials being offered municipal health insurance 
coverage.  As a result of a lengthy discussion on this subject matter with many unknowns, the Council directed the Town 
Administrator to look into the cost, policy and procedure for offering health insurance (medical and dental) to elected 
officials in Hooksett, NH.  This item was then tabled for the Council's next meeting of 11/06/19. 
  
Additional information for the 11/06/19 Council meeting: 
A. HealthTrust "all eligible list" for municipal health insurance: 

“Employee” means in whole or in part as each Member in HealthTrust may determine, any 
individual (but not including an independent contractor) described in the categories below and 
on whose behalf Contributions are made to HealthTrust by a Member: 4 HealthTrust, Inc. 
Bylaws Effective: January 26, 2017 

(a) An employee within the meaning of Sub-Title C of the Code; 
(b) Any person who has been an employee described in the immediately preceding 
subsection (a) but is on leave of absence or is retired; 
(c) Any publicly elected official of a Member whose term of office is at least one (1) 
year’s duration (or official appointed to fill the unexpired term of a publicly elected 
official) regardless of his or her scheduled work week if such official is described in one 
of the categories as follows:  

(i) Individuals serving on the Governing Body of a Member; or  
(ii) Officials who serve in an administrative position of a Member which position 
is comparable in status to a department-head level appointed administrator, but 
which, by law or option of the Member, is an elected position. Such position shall 
include, but not be limited to, clerks, treasurers, tax collectors, road agents and 
police chiefs.  

(d) Volunteer firefighters and part-time firefighters of a Member’s fire department, 
regardless of his or her scheduled work week, upon satisfaction of the following criteria 
(“firefighters”):  

(i) The Member’s fire department or service is subject to RSA 154:1;  
(ii) It is determined by resolution of the Governing Body of a Member that its 
firefighters shall be eligible for participation in HealthTrust;  
(iii) The firefighter has continuously served as a firefighter in the Member’s fire 
department for one year;  

Agenda Item #16.3.

Page 37 of 96



(iv) The firefighter meets and maintains State of New Hampshire, Division of Fire 
Standards & Training, Firefighter I certification as a firefighter.  

(e) Any elected or appointed official serving on a permanent board or commission of 
a Member which board or commission is established pursuant to a statute of the State 
of New Hampshire and whose term of office is at least one (1) year’s duration 
regardless of his or her scheduled work week.  
(f) Any spouse or dependent, including a surviving spouse or dependent, of any 
of the foregoing persons. 

 
B. HealthTrust will add a newly eligible employee group (ie elected officials) to our existing contracts any point 
during our calendar year contract, as long as they have the Town Council meeting minutes with a motion of 
approval by the governing body. 
  
C. HealthTrust does not track which groups within the municipal pool have elected or appointed officials as 
eligible employees being offered health and dental  
    benefits.  Pending Town Attorney comments. 
  
D. Total # of Town of Hooksett Elected Officials = 37 (see attached Administrative Code section 4) 
  
E. 01/01/2020 Non-Union medical and dental rate sheet (see attached) 
     Cost to Town for All Elected Officials 37 (only 9 Councilors) if using non-union rate sheets = premium, HRA, FSA - 
bolded comparison for two-person plan option 
       1. Access Blue HMO AB201PDED $250/$750 deductible:   single $339,671.47 ($82,622.79), two-person 
$679,346.27 ($165,246.39), family $917,116.04 ($223,082.28) 
       2. Access Blue HMO ABSOS20/40 $1,000/$3,000 deductible: single $324,781.56 ($79,000.92), two-person 
$649,567.56 ($158,002, family $876,913.32 ($213,303.24) 
            Option #2 has a HRA (health reimbursement arrangement); Town funds, pay toward those services requiring a 
deductible after employee meets initial contribution:  
            single employee $700 & Town $300 ($11,100), two-person employee $1,375 & Town $625 ($23,125) , family 
employee $2,000 & Town $1,000 ($37,000) 
       3. Lumenos 2500 $2,500/$$5,000 deductible:  single $339,451.32, two-person $678,898.20, family $916,513.68 
Note:  All plans above have a FSA (Flexible Spending Account) an employee may add as an option to the base insurance 
plan.  Minimum $480 Maximum $2,400 deducted over 48 pay periods. 
          
F. 01/01/2020 Retiree medical and dental rate sheet (see attached) 
     Cost to Town for All Elected Officials (37) or Town Council Members Only (9) if using retiree rate sheets = 
elected officials would pay 100% of their insurance premiums for medical and dental; therefore only the claims 
experience exposure that may impact the Town's annual rate renewals.  Policy would need to be set for elected officials 
paying direct for premiums to HealthTrust via ACH (auto checking withdrawal). 
  
G.  Would a Charter change be needed if elected officials were offered Town of Hooksett health insurance?  Pending 
Town Attorney comments. 
      HOOKSETT TOWN CHARTER 
     Sec. 3.4. Compensation.  
     Councilors shall receive as compensation the sum of one thousand five hundred dollars ($1,500.00) per year. The Chair shall 
receive an additional five hundred dollars ($500.00) per year.     
     Councilors shall receive reimbursement for reasonable mileage and expenses incurred in the performance of Town business outside 
the Town limits of Hooksett according to rules of the  
     Council. 
     Sec. 6.3. Compensation.  
      A. The compensation of all elected and appointed officials and department heads shall be established and modified by express 
resolution of the Council.  
      B. The rate of compensation of Council members may be changed by an ordinance approved by a majority of the Council subject to 
an assenting vote of the Town at the next election.    
      Compensation paid any member of the Council may not be initiated until the assenting vote is received.  
      C. The compensation of all Town employees not fixed by other provisions of this Charter or collective bargaining shall be fixed in 
the Personnel Plan by a schedule of pay which shall include 

Agenda Item #16.3.

Page 38 of 96



      a minimum and maximum and such intermediate rates as may be deemed desirable for each class of position provided for in said 
plan.  
      D. In recommending the Town budget, the Council shall not increase or decrease any individual compensation item but shall act 
solely with respect to total salaries in the various departments 
      of the Town.  
  
H.  Do the Town Councilors vote on this item, when they may be the ones enrolling onto this insurance?  Recuse 
for personal gain?  Pending Town Attorney comments. 
  
I.   When conducting further research on "elected" officials on municipal health insurance, HealthTrust provided their full 
by-laws - see (d) (e) (f) above for additional groups the Town may consider.  At this time the Town does not offer Health 
Insurance to any part-time employees,  elected or appointed officials, or volunteer or part-time firefighters.  Retiree's 
surviving spouse may continue insurance based on the rate sheet attached.  Continuation coverage is available for 
surviving covered family members via COBRA and HealthTrust's Survivor Care and Transition Care Programs. 
 
 
FINANCIAL IMPACT: 
To be determined based on non-union rate sheet or retiree rate sheet AND all elected officials (37) or 
only Town Council members (9) - see above background for details. 
 
POLICY IMPLICATIONS: 
To be established based on all elected officials or only Town Council members for "active member", 
"attendance", etc. 
 
RECOMMENDATION: 
If the Town Council motions to add elected officials to the Town of Hooksett Health Insurance: 1) use 
the retiree rate sheet model and 2) add a HealthTrust Domestic Partner Rider to our existing active 
employee medical plans (no cost to add rider, however cost is when employee upgrades from single 
to two-person plan and claims experience exposure of domestic partner): 
  
Domestic Partner  If your Group offers a Domestic Partner Rider, a 

domestic partner of an employee who resides at the 
same legal residence for at least 12 months is eligible 
to enroll.  
If the domestic partnership is terminated, the former 
domestic partner may be eligible for continuation 
coverage if such continuation coverage is elected 
under federal or state law. (See the “COBRA and 
Other Continuation Coverage Rights” section for a 
detailed description of eligibility.)  

  
 
SUGGESTED MOTION: 
To be determined by Town Council. 
 
TOWN ADMINISTRATOR'S RECOMMENDATION: 
Information provided at the request of the Council. 
 
 

Agenda Item #16.3.

Page 39 of 96



Page 40 of 96



4. Boards, Commissions, Committees and other Officials
(to include elected or appointed officials.)

The appropriate State laws, The Town Charter, and Town Ordinances, direct the
listed Boards, Commissions, Committees and other Officials. The following
descriptions are for guidance only in the daily conduct of business.

‘l@

4.3

4.4

4.5

4.6

Budget Committee (9 Elected and 4 Appointed) - Review annual budgets
submitted by the Town Council, School Board, all Precincts and the Sewer
Department. Submit recommended budgets to the Town Voters and
periodically review all expenditures.

Cemetery Trustees (Elected) - Arrange for cemetery lot visits and sales,
maintain vital records relative to burials, manage day-to-day care of
cemeteries, and manage expenditures of allocated funds.

Conservation Commission (Appointed) - Research and catalog all open
space, natural, ecological, wetland or aesthetic areas within the Town;
develop a program to protect listed areas; and obtain land in the name of
the Town through gift, purchase, grant, bequest or other legitimate means
for continued preservation.

Economic Development Committee (Appointed) — Enhance the vitality
of the local economy by retaining existing businesses and attracting new
ones.

Health Officer (Appointed) — Enforce the state public health rules and
laws as well as local ordinances and regulations. Serve as a liaison
between state officials and the local community on issues concerning local
public health.

Heritage Commission (Appointed) — Handle transactions relating to all
cultural resources including hiring consultants and contractors as needed
and receiving gifts of money and property, both real and personal, in the
name of the Town, subject to the approval of the Town Council. Such gifts
shall be managed and controlled by the commission for their proper use.

Library Trustees (Elected) - Manage the Town Libraryand all property of
the Town Library; control expenditures of funds received from Town
appropriations, fines, gifts, and copying charges; and appoint and remove
with due process the Librarianand other Library staff.

Moderator (Elected) - Preside over town meetings, regulate the business
thereof, decide questions of order, and make a public declaration of every
vote passed. May prescribe rules of procedure, but such rules may be
altered by the town.

Agenda Item #16.3.

Page 41 of 96



4.9 Parks and Recreation Advisory Board (Appointed) - Under the
jurisdiction of the Town Council, assist the Public Works Department in an
advisory capacity on recreational projects, recreational budgetary items,
recreational capital improvements, and with the submittal of applications
for federal, state, and other grant monies relating to parks and/or
recreation. Develop plans and work with the Conservation Commission in
obtaining and receiving land for recreational purposes.

4.10 Planning Board (Appointed) - Prepare and amend the Master Plan,
review and recommend Zoning Ordinance amendments to the local
legislative body and review and act on all subdivision and site plan
applications.

4.11 Record Retention Committee (Appointed) - In accordance with RSA 33-
A23, The Town will establish and maintain a Municipal Records Committee
charged with governing the retention and disposition of municipal records.

4.12 Recycling and Transfer Advisory Committee (Appointed) - Advise the
Council on matters related to the management of municipal solid waste
and recycling.

N3 4.13 ewer Commission (Elected) - Make regulations and decisions as may
be necessary for the proper functioning of the sewer system and overall
operation of the Sewer Department, levy special assessments upon land
benefited by the sewer, establish sewer charge procedures for defraying
the cost of plant and system operations and manage the maintenance and
repair of sewer systems.

\3 @SupeNisorof the Checklist (Elected) - Care for the checklist in
compliance with Federal HAVA (Help America Vote Act); determine
whether or not each individual is qualified to vote; and amending the
districts within two (2) years of the census.

’\

t 4.15 \ Town Clerk (Elected) - Record and maintain all permanent documents
and perform all other related functions per state statute.

Cfwn Council (Elected) - Consists of nine elected members, one from
'

each District and three At-Large members. is the governing body of the
Town and directed by the specifications of the Town Charter. Prepares
and passes ordinances, submits a proposed budget to the Budget
Committee and gives direction to the Town through the Town
Administratorand appointed Boards and Committees.

4.17 Town Hall Preservation Committee (Appointed) — Work toward the
preservation of the old Town Hall.

Agenda Item #16.3.

Page 42 of 96



4.18 Town Treasurer (Appointed) — The Treasurer shall have custody of all
monies belonging to the Town, and shall pay out the same only on orders
of the body designated by the Town to expend such funds. The Treasurer
shall deposit such funds in institutions and in such a manner as
designated by law, and according to the Town's investment policy, keep
suitable records, reconcile the General Fund, and subsidiary account bank
statements monthly, and perform all other related functions per state
statute.

3 ( 4.19 :Trustees of the Trust Fund (Elected) - Maintain custody of all trust funds
held by the Town. Invest the monies as limitedby RSA 31 and other state
statues as they apply.

4.20 Zoning Board of Adjustment (Appointed) - Hear appeals; and administer
special provisions of the Zoning Ordinance dealing with variances, special
exceptions and administrative decisions. Act as the Building Code Board
of Appeals per RSA 673:1-V.

37 e.‘\ec*'r<’«<.l

10

Agenda Item #16.3.

Page 43 of 96



Page 44 of 96



Monthly
Promlum

Annual
Premlum

Annual
15o/o

Employee
Shars

4 Tlmes
por Month

Employee's

Totun of Hooksett
2420 Health lnsurance

Non Union
Effective 11112020

Annual
8ãYo

Town
Share

Access Blue HMO AB20|PDED $250/$750 deducflbte
Single $ 900.03 $10,800.36 $ 9,180.31
Two-person $ 1,800,07 $21,600,84 $ 18,360.71
Family $ 2,430.09 $2e,161.08 $24,296.92

$1
$s
$¿

,620.05 $
,240,13 $
,374,16 $

33,75
67.50
91.13

Access Blue HMO ABsos20/40 iKDED $1,000/$9,000 deducflble
Single $ 731.49 $ 8,777,88 Townpaysl00%ofpremiumandS0%ofdeductibleafterthefìrst$400
Two-person $ 1,462.99 $ 17,555.88 Town pays 100% of premium and 50% of deductible after the first $750
Family $ 1,975.03 $ 23,700,36 Town pays 100% of premium and 50% of deductible after the first $1,000

Lumenos 2500 $2,600/$5,000 deductible
Single $ 764.53 $ 9,174.36 Town pays 100% of premium

Two-person $ 1,529.05 $ 18,348.60 Town pays 100% of premium

Family S 2,064,22 $24,770.64 Town pays 100% of premium

OPT-Out of Health lnsurance is $5,000 a year paid weekly.

Notes:
Town Council voted November 15,2017 to offer non-union employees three plans:

Access Blue HMO AB20IPDED with a 15olo non'union employee premium contr¡bution.
Access Blue HMO ABSOS20/40 lKDED Town pays 100% of premium and 50% of the deductible after the first $400

for single $750 for two-person and $l ,000 for family plan.
Lumenos 2500 Town pays 100% of premium and no employer contribution to the employoe's HSA account.

Town Council voted October 28,2015 to increase Opt-Out of Health lnsurance reimbursement from $2,400 to $5,000 per year
effective 11112016.

Town Council voted October 9, 2019 to continue the current health and dental plans options and contributions for 2020.

P:\Finance\Budgel\2020-21 Budgetu020 lnsruance copays Revls€d 10/16/19

Agenda Item #16.3.

Page 45 of 96



Page 46 of 96



Town of Hooksett

2020 Dental lnsurance
Effective 11112020

Plan
Monthly
Premium

Annual
Premium

Annual
Town
Share

Annual
Employee

Share

4 Times
per Month

Employee's
Co-pay

Option 5 Flex
Single
Two-person
Family

Option 2A Flex
Single
Two-person
Family

Option 1 Flex
Single
Two-person
Family

$ 47.16 $ 565.92
$ 90.71 $ 1,088.52
$ 159,04 $ 1,908.48

$ 17.10 $
$ 33.44 $

$ 65,83 $

$ 48.29
$ 93.46
$ 170.02

$ 205.20
$ 401.28
$ 78e.e6

05,20 $ 360,72
01.28 $ 687,24
89.96 $ 1,118.52

$ 205.20 $ 374.28
$ 4A1.28 $ 720.24
$ 789.96 $ 1,250,28

205.20
401,28
789.96

none
none
none

$z
$+
$z

$
$
$

7.52
14.32
23.30

7.80
15,01
26,05

$ 579.48
$ 1,121.52
$ 2,040,24

$
$
$

Notes:
Town will pay up to 10070 of Option 5 for any plan.
Police Union Contract 2017-2020 Article 24 lnsurance - same terms and conditions as provided to other

employees of the Town.
Fire Union Contract 2019 Article I Insurance - same terms and conditions as provided to other employees

of the Town.
DPW Union Contract 2019-2021Article 20 lnsurance - same terms and conditions as provided to other

employees of the Town.

Town Councilvoted October 9, 2019 to continue the current health and dentalplans options and contributions
for 2020.

P:\Finance\BudgetV020-21 Budget\2020 lnsruance copays Revised 10116119

Agenda Item #16.3.

Page 47 of 96



Page 48 of 96



         Town of Hooksett 
    

                                        ADMINISTRATION DEPARTMENT 
                                   Donna J. Fitzpatrick 

               Administrative Services Coordinator (HR) 

 

 

   

            Town of Hooksett 

2020 Health Insurance Rates for Retirees 

HealthTrust – Anthem 
         
     
      

Plan         Monthly Premium 
 
Access Blue HMO AB201PDED $250/$750 New England  

Single           900.03   (2019 was $868.76)     
Two-person       1,800.07   (2019 was $1,737.52)    
Family        2,430.09   (2019 was $2,345.65)    

 
Anthem Blue HMO ABSOS20/40 1KDED $1,000/$3,000 New England   
(SOS = site of service) 

Single           731.49    (2019 was $706.08)   
Two-person       1,462.99    (2019 was $1,412.15)     
Family        1,975.03    (2019 was $1,906.40)     

 
Lumenos 2500 $2,500/$5,000  

Single           764.53    (2019 was $737.96)     
Two-person       1,529.05    (2019 was $1,475.92)    
Family        2,064.22    (2019 was $1,992.49)  
 
Medicomp 
*With prescription coverage           607.59    (2019 was $586.48) 

Without prescription coverage      251.17    (2019 was $242.44)     
  

 
 
Notes: Prescription coverage for HMO & *Medicomp plans: 
 Retail:  $10/$25/$40 (up to 34-day supply at participating pharmacies including CVS) 
 Mail Order or Maintenance Choice (CVS Pharmacy):  $10/$40/$70 (90-day supply) 
 
 Prescription coverage for Lumenos plan:  
 Effective 07/01/19 IngenioRX (replaced previous Express Scripts) 
 
 <65 year retirees residing year-round outside of New England only have the  

Lumenos 2500 $2,500/$5,000 plan option.  If residing outside of New England for only a  
few months, you may be able to enroll onto any of the plan options listed above.  Please 
contact Donna Fitzpatrick in HR for details. 

 
 
 

35 Main Street  ▪  Hooksett, New Hampshire 03106  ▪  Tel (603) 268-0060  ▪  Fax (603) 485-2439 
Website:  www.hooksett.org 

Agenda Item #16.3.

Page 49 of 96



Page 50 of 96



         Town of Hooksett 
    

                                        ADMINISTRATION DEPARTMENT 
                                   Donna J. Fitzpatrick 

Administrative Services Coordinator (HR) 

 

 

   

 

 

Town of Hooksett 

2020 Dental Insurance Rates for Retirees 

HealthTrust – Delta Dental 
         
     
      

Plan                  Monthly Premium 
Option 5 Flex 
Single      17.10    (2019 was $16.46)   
Two-person     33.44    (2019 was $32.19)    
Family        65.83    (2019 was $63.35)   

  
Option 2A Flex 
Single      47.16    (2019 was $45.39)    
Two-person     90.71    (2019 was $87.30)   
Family    159.04    (2019 was $153.07)   

 
Option 1 Flex 
Single      48.29    (2019 was $46.47)     
Two-person     93.46    (2019 was $89.95)   
Family    170.02    (2019 was $163.64)   

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

35 Main Street  ▪  Hooksett, New Hampshire 03106  ▪  Tel (603) 268-0060  ▪  Fax (603) 485-2439 
Website:  www.hooksett.org 

Agenda Item #16.3.

Page 51 of 96



Page 52 of 96



Town Council 
STAFF REPORT 

 
 
To: Town Council 
Title: FY 2020-21 Budget and Warrant Articles 
Meeting: Town Council - 06 Nov 2019 
Department: Finance 
Staff Contact: Christine Soucie, Finance Director 
 
BACKGROUND INFORMATION: 
Update and review budget and warrant articles. 
  
At the Deliberative Session on February 2, 2019 there was a motion to increase Article #3 $49,000 for 
the hydrants.   
Discussion about private hydrants and condo living followed.  (See attached Minutes) 
Motion passed. 
  
Issues: 

1. The Town’s Operating Budget (Article 3) includes funds to pay for publicly owned water 
hydrants.   The motion to add $49,000 to the budget for hydrants did not include the new 
purpose to pay for privately owned hydrants.   

2. RSA 31:4 address public purpose.  The Town cannot spend tax dollars for a strictly private 
benefit.  The Town could spend fund to insure public safety.  In this case providing water for 
fire protection is considered to be a public benefit. 

3. Which “private” hydrants should be included:  Condominiums, Apartments, Single Family 
Homes, Commercial (all are considered to be private by the water districts). 

  
Resolutions:   Place an article on the March 2020 ballot to clarify that only private residential 
condominiums would be reimbursed for water hydrant fees.  Since the $49,000 is already in the 
proposed operating budget the following article was suggested by legal counsel.   
  
“To see if the Town will vote to appropriate $49,000.00 to reimburse private residential condominiums 
for water hydrants to insure public safety.”  
  
  
Flushing fees?    
During this process it was brought to the Town’s attention that one of the water districts also charges 
a flushing fee at the current cost of $4,200.00 annually.   
  
Currently there are no funds in the operating budget for this purpose so if Council would like to 
include flushing fees a separate warrant article would be needed.   
  
“To see if the Town will vote to raise and appropriate $4,200.00 to reimburse private residential 
condominiums for water flushing fees to insure public safety.”  

Agenda Item #16.4.

Page 53 of 96



  
  
 
SUGGESTED MOTION: 
Motion to recommend  the private water reimbursement article "To see if the Town will vote to 
appropriate $49,000.00 to reimburse private residential condominiums for water hydrants to insure 
public safety.” 
 
TOWN ADMINISTRATOR'S RECOMMENDATION: 
Concur 
 
ATTACHMENTS: 
Deliberative Minutes 
 
 

Agenda Item #16.4.

Page 54 of 96



HOOKSETTDELIBERATIVESESSION ebruary 2019

w.ooenel: RSA 32 states that we are responsible for the prudent dtstrihunonof puhlie funds.
neparrrnents did a good job at lookingat past aotuals in preparing their budget. It was a pretrysolid budget.

Fred Bishop, :4 Mammoth Road ~26» lt oost Stonegaleslzso annually heeause it is privalrz
hydrants. we also pay taxes on our hill for the hydrants that are on public pmpenyr This is
double Iaxnlion. wepay tor our hydranls through our eondo assooiarien and then we pay again
for everyone else's hydrants in our tax bill. Litch?eldhad a case and ehange to rairly charge
everyone and l hopeHooksett will do the same.

I. Hyde, Budget Committee. I point out that the Budget Committee increased the operating
budget $36,000 for linetown owned hydranLsbecause the water precinct increased [he price. We
don't own those hydranlsr I dun'I know why the residents should pay for privately own hydrants.
If you don‘! wonl Ihem, don't have them.

Dianne l-lumelaine,3 Beech street; weare n 55 eommunnyin wehster wood. our tax rate is the
same as everyone else in town and we don't gel trash pickup or plowing. ‘(Tris hydrant would be
a small amount that the town eould do. Everyone in our oommuntty is over 55 and we have no
impacton school so we should gel some relief.

J4sullivan: My understandingis the PlanningBoard requires a eertaln amount orhydrants in an
area whether they are private ur not They are not oplionai.

R. nnhai.-ne~The injustice oreondo living There are people that don‘I have water and sewer but
get eilled on the taxes. You choose to live in a 55 community.

Vole on motion declared asaed h

. Kozlnwski, 22 Julia Drive. If you have this defauil budget. and you havc to mlak: hard
decisions, what will be cut?

J Hyde: There is $100,000 for storm water monitoringwhich is mandated by state.

I). Wtnlerlon: I would not be making the cuts because I will not he the Administrator as oflniy
I. we(the Administrator)would have to function in the budgetdollars that the citizens give yau.

Chief Burkush: The hydrant lease and renrals; there are other developments in town that would
be impacted. The impactorabsorbingall the private hydrants would be $180,000. wemanage
the hydrant rcnlal and leases in our budgetand have no control over the east.weare 9u% personnel cosls so irwe needed to make reduction,we would have to make outs.

JI-iyde How much money oflhe previous budget was not spent by the Iown7

Agenda Item #16.4.

Page 55 of 96



Page 56 of 96



Town Council 
STAFF REPORT 

 
 
To: Town Council 
Title: Winter Carnival - Hooksett Kiwanis Sponsored Event 
Meeting: Town Council - 06 Nov 2019 
Department: Administration 
Staff Contact: Nick Germain, Project Coordinator 
 
BACKGROUND INFORMATION: 
 Place holder to discuss and possibly act on requests related to a Winter Carnival-type event.  
 
FINANCIAL IMPACT: 
Unknown 
 
POLICY IMPLICATIONS: 
N/A 
 
RECOMMENDATION: 
N/A 
 
SUGGESTED MOTION: 
Vote on requests made by Kiwanis and any provisions suggested by councilors. 
 
TOWN ADMINISTRATOR'S RECOMMENDATION: 
Concur 
 
 

Agenda Item #17.1.

Page 57 of 96



Page 58 of 96



Town Council 
STAFF REPORT 

 
 
To: Town Council 
Title: Quarterly Financial Report for September 30, 2019 
Meeting: Town Council - 06 Nov 2019 
Department: Finance 
Staff Contact: Christine Soucie, Finance Director 
 
TOWN ADMINISTRATOR'S RECOMMENDATION: 
Update from Finance Director 
 
ATTACHMENTS: 
Quarterly Report 
 
 

Agenda Item #17.2.

Page 59 of 96



Quarterly Financial Report
for September 30,2019

FIRST QUARTER OF FY 2019—2O

UNAUDITED

General Fund Operating Budget

Remamlng

7_

Year 1 Budget Actual Euqget ‘A
W 2019.20 $17,750,209 53,995 661 3131541549 23%
FY 2013-19 17,122,180 4,653 949 12,465,231 27%
FY 2017-55 20,277,610 5_ma,19a 151177511 25%

s25.aao,oao

52:: cor; can 1
xesumcao ‘ 1

WWW) ‘¢1sL1vv1uA:<u:%!

:5 003,000

so
mama FY2015-19 moms

1) Budge1amoums1noluae translers, grants, aunazmnsam pm: year encumbrances approved by Gounod

Agenda Item #17.2.

Page 60 of 96



AdministrationDepartment Expenditure

Year Budget Actual %
2019-20 $1,146823 $279,753 24%
2013-19 1,074,363 279,807 26%
20l7—1? 1.093.160 253,434 23%

Adminlltration Dvnanm-nt

xi sacmu

Thisbudget and spending have remained relatively
stable for the last three years The department is
responsible for large town wide expenditures, such as
property liability insurance, workers compensation, legal
services and computers. FY201849 was a default
budget year, but did include about $60,000 for
encumbrances related to IT projects.

As of September 30"‘,the legal line was 6% spent, which
represents one month of services,

Fire—RescueDepartment Expenditure

Vear Bu et Actual %
201920 $4,255,331 $941,310 22%
201819 4122214 971,443 24%
2017-18 4.042.000 967,298 24%

Five-Rascuu D-pa?ment ‘

mom
sxaomona
x-,soo.rm

aauww _

Over the last three fiscal years, this budget has increased
about $213,000 or 5%. This increase is largely due to a
2% increase in wages and overtime; a 1% decrease in the
employer share of NH Retirement; a half percent
decrease in health insurance costs and another 4 5%
increase in general operations for items such as hydrant
rentals, vehicle maintenance and new equipment.

The spending has stayed within September's benchmark
of 25%. Minimum staffing is being utilized to keep the
department's expense down‘

Agenda Item #17.2.

Page 61 of 96



Police Department Expenditure

Year Budget Actual % The overall increase in the Police budget for the last
2019-20 54709950 31,066,38823% three fiscal years was just over $55,000 or 1.2%. Wages
201519 4,615012 1,019,549 22"/. and overtime increased 2%; health insurance has
2017.13 4551223 942157gov/. decreased about 1% and general operations increased

0.2%.

"" °"’"""""‘ The department historically underspends its budget due
to vacant positions. In the first quarter of the year, there
were five officers positions vacant for one month and
another officer position for two months. Also a sergeant
and a dispatch position were vacant for two months.

PW — Highway Division Expenditures

?year Budget
__

Actual % This division of Public Works includes Administration,
201920 $3,317.10: $6l7,d92 13% Roads, Fleet and Building Maintenance
201319 3,355,371 i,:iz9,3o7 40%
2027.19 6,480,118 L229464 23% Each year road paving is encumbered into the following

year's budget. The FY2019-20 budget includes
l $374,540 from the prior year and in P7 201849 there
‘ was $628,015 from FV201748. In FV2017-18 there

was $241,381 encumbered for paving and $3,424,776
for the pedestrian bridge.

ew .Mlghway Division

xs,aan.con
s4,ann,mn

x2.uun.iwn

1

“‘
mm mm, 1,,”.. 1 If you remove all of the encumbrances from each of the

L 5 budget years, the actual budget has increased $197,000
’

or 7% over the three years.

Agenda Item #17.2.

Page 62 of 96



PW — Highway Division Expenditures, continued

The $107,000or 7% breaks down as iollows:less than’ rVear Budget
V

iictual%
4% on wages and overtime; 15% decrease in health 2019-20 53.317103 $617,492 i3°/.2

insurance due to employee changes; a half percent 201549 3,355 371 1,329,397 40%
increase in employer share of NH Retirement and 201743 6,400,118 1,828,404 20%
$125,000 or 4.5% increase in general operations

_____ __

General operations included $100,000 for the M54 1 ew -Highwayblvhian l
Permit for Stormwater required by EPA. : l

; se.oaa,«>an ,
Year to date acwais are 13% of the budget, which is : xonanxion 1
lower than the prior two years due to timing of the i “"’°°""::
paving work. Paving for the current year has been
completed as of September, but not yet paid.

Staffing levels for the Highway Division have remained
level for the past thee years. Currently one truck
driver position and one heavy equipment operator
position have been vacant all year.

PW — Recycling& Transfer Division Expenditures

‘rear Eugqet Actual “iv This budget has increased $60,000 or 5% over the past
Z°‘9'7‘7 5‘v2‘3»‘55 39227” ‘W’ three years. Wages and overtime have increased a halt
2°‘5"9 ‘rmvm ‘927'9 W“ percent and there have been no changes in the staffing
2‘"7”9 Hszim ‘97 3“ W” levels. Health insurance has decreased by $50,000 or

—— ———

W W 4.5% due to employee plan changes, Town share of NH
PW-Recycling Hr--uvwrolvl-ion Retirement has remained level over the three years and

general operations have increased by $104,000 or 9%Si some

‘
,,m.m ,,.,,,,_l largely due to tipping fees.

l
“WW i Position vacancies explain why actuals are at 18% and

‘°
;.,.,2., mm ,.,,,,i,

‘ the September benchmark is 25%. Currently there is
I one truck driver position that has been vacant for three

"
”” ' months.

Agenda Item #17.2.

Page 63 of 96



PW — Recycling & Transfer Division Expenditures,
conti nued

The cost to dispose of trash has increased for two my
__

auagg Wmuai _=/L
reasons. 201920 51211155 522279 13%

y ‘ ' V

20‘l§—19 1,l1A,714 192,729 17%
Flrst, the contractual rate for tipping fees has Increased. 2017,15 1451713 197340 17%
The Town is in a long term contract, to dispose of trash,

_ _ _
7 H

_ _
I

which has a slight rate increase each year. pw.RgcyzllnwlYvInIlvrDlvlIIcn

St:-anraanSecond, there is a change in the recycling market, For
many years recycling was less expenses than trash to
dispose of and good for the environment. Currently it
cost more to recycle materials than to dispose of as
trash, which lead the Town to end single stream
curbside collection.

The Town still recycles whenever possible, items like
cardboard, metals and aluminum cans are being
recycled.

x:_o'm ano

xsonraw

General Fund Revenues

Under
_ ‘(car

7

‘Budget Actual Budget *7.
FY 2019-20 $5,335,489 $1,553,355 ($3,771.61!) 29%
FY 2095719 5i5G4‘796 1,435,435 (4,069,360) 26%
FV 2017-1E 5,M2‘s5s <,4e7,9co (3,944 759) 27%

seoccm
$5:-em.-no tu.ccu,caa Ev
xawcmz ,,,,

l nrl?r :42-«nil l

xi mums

FY2e\a—m rv 2mm

1) Budget amounls include lranslers, grants, donaltons and cm: year encumbrances approved by Council

Agenda Item #17.2.

Page 64 of 96



Yea! Budget Actual "/0
201920 $3,400,000 Si,l2A,836 33%
zouus 3,400,000 1,oa3.3sa 30%
2Dl7-l? uonuou 579035 26%

W

uo:..v.nm§.;.;r....u.m.

mm zoruu zmm

Motor Vehicle Registration Revenues

The top revenue source for the Town are fees collected
for register motor vehicles‘ The budget remained level
for the last several years and, based on year-end
collections, the FY2019-20 budget will be increased to
$4,000,000 in November when the tax rate is set.

As oflune 2019 the Town collected $3,873,297

lune 2018 collections were $3,481,730

June 2017 collections finished at $3,A56,72S

interest & Penaltieson Tax Revenues

Veal Actual %Budget
2010-20 $150,000 $37,680 25%
2013-19 300,000 60,446 20%
2017718 320,000 30.591 10%

lnlcmsl n.Pnnnlllnl on um

sun can

naamo
$150,000

mm zuww mm

This mterest comes from property taxes not being paid
timely and the penalties are fees to execute liens and
notices. Many property owners pay off delinquent
taxes in the spring to avoid the Town deedlng their
property and also when they want to sell their property.

Collections for the last thee years are as follows

June 2019 $304,891

lune 2018 $171,195

lune 2017 $222,279

when the tax rate l5 set, this budget will be revised to
$240,000 based on actuals

Agenda Item #17.2.

Page 65 of 96



Building Permit Revenues

yea, Bud :1 mm % These fees are paid forresidentiaiand commercial
2019,20 5153300 578397 52% construction. Collections have increased over the iast
2015.19 iisaoa 51140 46% ""99 “SW V93“-
2W"5 ‘°°'°c° 23499 29% Permits issued in the first quarter of the year are as

W
* follows:

BultdlniPcrmils
>7/1/19w 9/30/19 325

>7/1/13 (0 9/30/18 281

.,....r.‘ >7/1/17to 9/30/17 132

“T: ‘y This budget will be increased to $200,000 when the tax

i rate is set.

State of NH Revenues

yga, gum. ,\c“,a|V-7,
TherMea|s84Rooms TaxrandHighway Eiock Grant have

201940 31057180 5%27, 9% been steady for the last three years.

201949 W53753 94575 9% The State sent additionai Highway BlockGrant funds in
2017-15 ir°31v?55 91971 9"/v 2017 to each community. Hooi<sett's share was

, _ ,,_ $260,243‘

In October 2019 the State sent Municipal Aid in the

r_
amount of $152,392 to the Town. This same amount is

‘ "““"“ i‘ anticipated in October 2020.

Sim Revanuu

so2m,aL-9

mo ow

mama

Io No State Shared Revenues have been received since FY
‘ 2009-10

Agenda Item #17.2.

Page 66 of 96



interest on Deposit Revenues

Year Budget Actual “/2 This revenue IS the interest the Town earns on the cash
200-20 5125.000 597.121 78% in our bank accounts. The Treasurer invests excess cash
W849 70,000 77.475111% in accordance to the Town's investment pO|ICy.
2017-16 40,000 30,551 76%

Coliecticns have increased over the iast three yeais to
— ~

= finish each year as follows:
Inluwltml Dnpolll ‘

1 “Wm
3 June 2019 $256,393

‘ mum»
‘

swam;

ssoaoo

June 2018 $148,706

\
‘

we 1 June 2017 $77,971

1 Based on this information the budget will be increased
to $250,000 when the tax rate is set.

Agenda Item #17.2.

Page 67 of 96



Page 68 of 96



Town Council 
STAFF REPORT 

 
 
To: Town Council 
Title: Lambert's Park Pavilion Project 
Meeting: Town Council - 06 Nov 2019 
Department: Community Development 
Staff Contact: Bruce Thomas, Town Engineer 
 
BACKGROUND INFORMATION: 
The Parks and Recreation Advisory Board wishes to add the replacement of the Lambert’s Park 
Pavilion to the March, 2020 Town Warrant.  The new pavilion will be used for concerts, picnics, and 
other public gatherings for Hooksett residents.  Photos of the existing pavilion and examples of a 
proposed pavilion are attached, as well as locus maps of the area. 
  
The intent of this project is to replace the existing 12’x12’ pavilion at Lambert Park with a new ADA 
compliant pavilion.  Dimensions of the proposed pavilion will be approximately 24’ by 52’, but may 
change depending on the final choice of pavilion. 
  
The project will include the pavilion on a concrete pad (or other flooring options as dictated by budget) 
and conduit installation to an existing utility pole on Merrimack Street to provide power.  The 
anticipated cost of the project is $93,240.  Funding sources will be at the discretion of the Town 
Council and will come from a mix of impact fees, capital reserve funds and possibly a warrant article. 
  
The anticipated cost is broken down as follows: 
    
Cost of Gazebo: $55,000   
Cost of Assembly: $14,000   
Concrete Floor/Footings: $10,000   
Crushed Gravel base (under floor): $1,500   
Electrical (Conduit/Connection Fees): $8,000   
Shoreland Permit Application $300   
  
Subtotal: $88,800   

Contingency (5%) $4,440   
    
Total: $93,240   
  
Potential Sources of Funding:    

Warrant Article: $93,390   
Impact Fees: $50,000   
Parks and Recreation Capital Reserve $43,390   

Agenda Item #17.3.

Page 69 of 96



funds: 
    
    
An example quote is provided. 
 
FINANCIAL IMPACT: 
The Parks and Recreation Advisory Board recommends the following funding option for this project: 
  
Impact fees*:                                                                                      $50,000 
Remainder:  Parks and Recreation capital reserve funds*      $43,390  
Budgetary impact:                                                                  $0.00 
  
Note:  The current balance of impact fees is $110,611.28. 
The current balance of P&R Capital Reserve Funds is $146,190.59. 
  
Total:                                                                                                  $93,390 
 
POLICY IMPLICATIONS: 
None 
 
RECOMMENDATION: 
To approve funding for the construction of a new pavilion to be located at Lambert’s Park based on 
the information provided and attached support documentation with the funding sources determined by 
the Town Council. 
 
SUGGESTED MOTION: 
To be determined at the Town Council meeting based whether or not the project is approved and 
subject to the determination of the sources of funding. 
 
TOWN ADMINISTRATOR'S RECOMMENDATION: 
The Parks and Recreation Advisory Committee has provided information on location and scope of the 
project.  The cost of the proposed pavilion is $93, 390 and is proposed to be offset by the use the 
park and rec. impact fees in the amount of $50,000. 
 
ATTACHMENTS: 
Pavilion Staff Report 
 
 

Agenda Item #17.3.

Page 70 of 96



STAFF REPORT

PROJECT STATUS REPORT

Pavilion Project

The Parks and Recreation Advisory Board wishes to add the replacement ofthc I.ambert‘s Park
Pavilion to the March, 2020 Town Warrant. The new pavilion will be used for concerts, picnics. and
other public gatherings for Hooksett residents. Photos of the existing pavilion and examples ofa
proposed pavilion are attached, as well as locus maps of the area.

The intent ofthis project is to replace the existing l2’xl2’ pavilion at Lambert Park with a new ADA
compliant pavilion. Dimensions nfthe proposed pavilion will be approximately 24’ by 52’, but may
change depending on the final choice ofpavilion.

The project will include the pavilion on a concrete pad (or other ?ooring options as dictated by budget)
and conduit installation to an existing utility pole on Merrimack Street to provide power. The
anticipated cost otithe project is $93,240. Funding sources will be at the discretion ol‘the Town
Council and will come from a mix ofimpact fees, capital reserve funds and possibly a warrant article.

The anticipated cost is broken down as follows:

Cost of Gazebo: $55,000
Cost ofAssembly: $14,000
Concrete Floor/Footings: $10,000
Crushed Gravel base (under ?oor): SH,500
Electrical (Conduit/Connection Fees): $8,000
Shoreland Permit Application $300

Subtotal: $88,800
Contingency (5%) $4,440

Total: $93,240

Potential Sources of Funding:

Warrant Article: $93,390
Impact Fees: $50.00()

Parks and Recreation Capital Reserve funds: 543,390

An example quote is provided.

Agenda Item #17.3.

Page 71 of 96



Financial Impact:

The Parks and Recreation Advisory Board recommends the following funding option for this project:

Impact fees*: $50,000
Remainder: Parks and Recreation capital reserve funds* $43,390
Budgetary impact: $0.00

Note: The current balance of impact fees is $110,611.28.
The current balance of P&R Capital Reserve Funds is $146,190.59.

Total: $93,390

Recommendation:

To approve funding for the construction ofa new pavilion to be located at Lambcrt’s Park based on the
information above and attached support documentation with the funding sources determined by the
Town Council,

Suggested Motion:

To be determined at the Town Council meeting based whether or not the project is approved and
subject to the determinationof the sources of funding.

Agenda Item #17.3.

Page 72 of 96



LAMBERT PARK PAVILION’

Anticipated Cost

Cost of Gazebo:

Cost of Assembly:
Concrete Floor/Foolingsr
Crushed Grave! base (under floor):
Electrical (Conduit/Connection Fees):
Shurcland Permit Application

)

Proposed Warrant Artic|e: $93,390

AVAILABLE FUNDING:

Impacl Fecs*:
Parks and Recreation capital reserve funds

*Nmc: Use of Impact Fees has been approved by Town Attorney:

Fund Balances (as of Sept. 30, 2019):

Impact Fee Baiance : $1 l(),6l1
P & R. Capital Reserve Fund Balance: $146,191

Agenda Item #17.3.

Page 73 of 96



LOCUS MAP

E
E’

Agenda Item #17.3.

Page 74 of 96



GAZEBO LOCATION AN

Agenda Item #17.3.

Page 75 of 96



2 Lambert Park and Existing Gazebo

Agenda Item #17.3.

Page 76 of 96



Agenda Item #17.3.

Page 77 of 96



’6C|vExamp|ePavilion No 2

Agenda Item #17.3.

Page 78 of 96



Kw?’

8 Example Pavilion - Rocky Mountain Shelter

Agenda Item #17.3.

Page 79 of 96



9 Example Pavilion - Catskill Mountain Shelters

Agenda Item #17.3.

Page 80 of 96



a:24a/ Rocky Mountain Series ‘...§?S..'..4
Budguliry Quolallon/Order Form

auors vAun Fox mm mm one
am 1.: gjpu/zserz EVRN‘(3 OTC. »:,:'.>..::’:::.:.mn.

uamcnrm
nuns Ship Ya: Nauvam, pm

Contact: Com L n um
um. smuum ms swg cant-ct: v

m anutulsn sue»-nu: 7
E marl. cwusunghanks-n W cm...» >00 7

Eumnl Eu sup n.«- n. mwnkn Fmm Appmvw smmm xwma Deuvuy a... mu
?ay Catalanu Descrinlmn Pncn Eur: Fvlcn Yaw!

an’ x 52' ROCKY Mouuum SERIES smucmaz
swam POSY SYEEL BEAM

>

" --muunzn FEATURES“
Am luaIP>I1:>nGaul: aw; Non aw Nnlma Dunn
1'- s~Ev: mram.W. 1' 2.... av-manum. Fm! Cenkr

1 9| auasmsvsa s45,974.nv :55,s7Aao

-mm mm, 4 mm. W .1. spam ..15- o c
wmrcamnn Fnntxlnd? m

:m....s ‘x a- Final!
sumIlndonaynum

zoemu hm: Edgv

~ sm.¢z- x 5"Nem sum... nzm! Grow: Honmeck

:4 cm. sun-weSum awn»; mp mu (sxm...s Cums]
- sum-G-ngauxix hlcalclnuutlnomspau

'

Epuxy s.. ?ue cuminmm.-
- zmcCaaxnd n..u»....

Upw.I?o)« em PSFannw«laa? (lav: 2am
- mm cw... cwxnawe use mly
- 5uI:mmxmuMnys,11"x11 PDF(Lud‘HmnoI:otwuhI)

st21:cl"I<:w Hlmplmn" umm Englnuu Slqnldzn-1 sum Dvumnywilh c.:=m.aa...‘ 5
“W M4 =...»_..mg

W___,,‘.,1,.,,m,m. swoon
"OFFERED ONIONS“

‘
-‘

n W... m...,..m...m..n.».,»,....,..m..c.,..;.n....m.w....... am. msm men
n a...,.c.. [on.w.».m..a.m.u.momp..m moan won

Not: run ALL LEAD was we ssnmnzn AI nus ar auov: mu sumac: m cmwss
Thu Quote Excludes’ Concmtn,Foo1Ing:,EIeclrIv:al, Plumbing. ??g Staging, Vnsnllalian,

Emkemgn rm, Permns -Local or Prov cm
as”: rams mu W...-"W 1.. E--um »,...w.... ‘. .w..¢ mm... M...

....mu... m.Canlrlcl mm .....n
_

:.m..¢ M nnoduul mm mm. m...u.....n .n. ...,.,.,.....nmcn ........M... m..n,....... u. um. um... .....m..m..¢ ». 5... m can my .....‘..a ..m.........y..mm .m..
..r.....

Wm: M mmm .n Mm. .,.“M... u.. Imbh?
......,.am... am».

Mm.‘ ..,.4..u.,., W. ..,.m.~ ..,..:...m. an ...Lani »....‘.( mm, ??labdln .n. in: 2. M ‘. u, an... .F mm5 Naeummmdl?

mz-as v.sum....m...: Acclvlnd usn sun-Ymaw.
-wmm ==.pun..«=... mm -

srI,uv 57 1»: I:npamtoAE [a.x...<. Du-an mu Nu Fmm mo: orsmpmanu <4.1.. ma

N/A m anac.Gnvvmm-mAgenc\aI Mm Formal m Fvew . in 55190-man: on Board”
:1 142522 av. cunm Dmer?acwnlon man: a ...: m mm:-‘ usn Ya $5: 542 an

Sm,“ ,.,,m,,,, .SM€‘tP. SW/7M.;oI¢

Aumo?nd Slvnamvu
7

a... mm»,

NATURAL STRUCTURES
>oau7w.a:w:my_oR:mA M Inn.zs24415 m m s2:.sas2

Ema? .m..g,..m..x.u..m... M. vmwnnmv-Mvurxunx cum

Agenda Item #17.3.

Page 81 of 96



Page 82 of 96



TC MINUTES 10-23-19   1 
 
 
 

Town of Hooksett 

Town Council Meeting Minutes 

Wednesday, October 23, 2019 

 1 

The Hooksett Town Council met on Wednesday, October 23, 2019 at 6:00 in the Hooksett 2 
Municipal Building.  3 
 4 

CALL TO ORDER 5 

Chair Sullivan called the meeting of 23 Oct 2019 to order at 6:00 pm. 6 
 7 

PROOF OF POSTING 8 

Administrative Services Coordinator Donna Fitzpatrick provided proof of posting. 9 
 10 

ROLL CALL 11 

In Attendance: Councilor James Sullivan, Councilor Robert Duhaime, Councilor John Durand, 12 
Councilor James Levesque, Councilor Clifford Jones, Councilor Timothy Tsantoulis, Councilor 13 
Clark Karolian, and Councilor Alex Walczyk 14 

  15 

Avery Comai arrived at 6:03 pm. 16 
 17 

PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE 18 

Chair Sullivan called for the Pledge of Allegiance.  19 

 20 

SPECIAL RECOGNITION 21 a 22 
HeartSafe Community Award and NH EMS Unit of the Year Award 23 

 24 

Captain Stalker: I would like to introduce Nancy Vaughn, Director of Government Relations for 25 
the American Heart Association, and Bill Wood, Emergency Preparedness Coordinator for the 26 
NH Bureau of EMS. 27 

 28 

N. Vaughn: We take great pride in emergency medical services and the proactive services they 29 
offer, such as CPR classes, which help people prepare for out of hospital cardiac arrest events. 30 

 31 

B. Wood: Every month in New Hampshire, there are 200 adult cardiac arrests. Where a 32 
defibrillator is needed, a life is saved only eight percent of the time. By contrast, 70% of lives are 33 
saved in Seattle, thanks to the availability of Automated External Defibrillators (AEDs). I would 34 
like to present this Citation to Hooksett Fire and Rescue on Oct 23, 2019, designating Hooksett a 35 
HeartSafe Community because of its initiatives, including widespread CPR instruction, public 36 
access AEDs throughout the community, advanced life support training and certified EMS 37 
providers available 24/7 for response to cardiac emergencies, emergency vehicles equipped with 38 
cardiac monitors/defibrillators, AEDs and other emergency resuscitation equipment, and 39 
aggressive resuscitation protocols for EMS providers and area hospitals.  40 
 41 
N. Vaughn: I have a second citation from the American Heart Association. 42 

 43 

Captain Stalker: Hooksett Fire and Rescue was the recent recipient of the State of NH EMS Unit 44 
of the Year. In 2009, we took over the ambulance transport service. Currently, 80% of our team 45 
work at the advanced level.  We offer advanced Paramedic level service and respond to1,600 46 
calls per year. We also offer various injury and illness prevention programs to the community. 47 
We are proud of the hard, dedicated work out personnel do every day and are honored to be the 48 
EMS unit of the year for 2019. 49 

Agenda Item #18.1.

Page 83 of 96



TC MINUTES 10-23-19   2 
 
 
 

 50 

SCHEDULED APPOINTMENTS 51  52 
Cindy Robertson, Conservation Commission Chair and Dan Tatem, Stantec: Proposed 53 
gate for Emergency Access to the Hooksett Riverwalk Trail  54 

 55 

C. Robertson: Dan Tatem could not be here tonight. David Ross is joining me, and I know he 56 
spoke to you about the proposed Emergency Access gate. We are looking for approval for the 57 
permitting process to install a gate where Phase Two of the Hooksett Riverwalk Trail is accessed 58 
from Merrimack Street. Stantec installed a gravel road for transporting heavy equipment needed 59 
at the site We are proposing to loam and seed this gravel area and put in a permanent steel farm 60 
gate. This has DOT approval as long as the access is only for emergency and construction. 61 
Stantec will install a Knox-box and Dan Tatem obtained the gate at no cost. I would like to note 62 
that Phase Three will use the same access area.  63 

 64 

C. Karolian: Is the engineering work done? 65 

 66 

C. Robertson: It will be done once we have approval. 67 

 68 

R. Duhaime: It looks as if the first 50 feet will stay graveled.  69 

 70 

C. Robertson: I don’t know. I thought it would all be loam.  71 

 72 

D. Ross: One neighbor is pleased about the proposal. 73 

 74 

T. Tsantoulis: It looks as if it would be easy to go around the gate. 75 

 76 

D. Ross: That area is very wet. You can’t drive on it. 77 

 78 

C. Karolian: What is the distance between the first and second access road? 79 

 80 

D. Ross: About 200 feet. 81 

 82 

C. Karolian: Are the abutters okay with this? 83 

 84 

C. Robertson: Comments have been highly favorable; we have heard nothing negative. 85 

 86 

R. Duhaime motioned to approve a gate being installed where the temporary construction 87 
access is currently located off of Merrimack Street. T. Tsantoulis seconded the motion. 88 

Voted in favor (8-0). C. Jones abstained because his wife works part-time for Stantec.  89 

 90 

C. Karolian: I want to stipulate that I am in favor, assuming the abutters are agreeable. 91 

 92 

PUBLIC HEARINGS 93  94 
Removal of Taxi Cab Ordinance, Other Ordinances, #00-20 (noticed for 6:30pm) 95 

 96 

Chair Sullivan read the notice for the Public Hearing: 97 

The Hooksett Town Council will be holding a public hearing on Wednesday October 23, 98 
2019 @ 6:30 pm at the Hooksett Town Hall – Council Chambers, 35 Main Street, 99 
Hooksett, NH. The purpose of the public hearing is to remove Town Ordinance #002-20 100 

Agenda Item #18.1.

Page 84 of 96



TC MINUTES 10-23-19   3 
 
 
 

Taxicab. This notice is per Chapter 231:132-a of the NH RSA and Section 3.6 of the 101 
Hooksett Town Charter. The full text of the proposed amendment is on file with the Town 102 
Clerk and is also available via www.hooksett.org for your inspection. Questions should be 103 
directed to the Office of the Town Clerk at 485-9534. 104 

 105 

M. Lavoie, Code Enforcement: One taxi cab company has been paying the license fee regularly 106 
for many years. The ordinance requires the town to keep track of people being picked up or 107 
dropped off in Hooksett; we can’t keep track of the various ride-share organizations. This is a tax 108 
on one business and it is unfair. 109 

 110 

Chair Sullivan: The vote on this item will be November 6th. 111  112 
 113  114  115 
CONSENT AGENDA 116  117 
$200 Donation - Heritage Commission Sponsored Speaker 118  119 
R. Duhaime motioned to accept $200 from the NH Humanities Council on behalf of the 120 
Town of Hooksett. T. Tsantoulis seconded the motion. 121 
Voted unanimously in favor (9-0). 122 
 123 
 124 

TOWN ADMINISTRATOR'S REPORT 125 

D. Fitzpatrick: Town Administrator Andre Garron is at a conference and asked me to present a 126 
few items on his behalf. First, the Supervisors of the Checklist will meet on Friday, October 25, 127 
2019 from 7:00 to 7:30 pm. This is the last opportunity for registered voters to change party 128 
affiliation. The Checklist Supervisors will extend the meeting time if necessary. Second, Trick or 129 
Treat for Halloween will be Thursday, October 31, 2019 from 6:00 to 8:00 pm. Lastly, union 130 
negotiations will continue on Thursday, October 31, 2019 from 9:00 am until noon and on Friday, 131 
November 1, 2019 from 8:30 am until 11:00 am.  132 

 133 

D. Fitzpatrick: We need a motion to authorize the Council Chair to sign the contract with Granite 134 
YMCA for the 2020 Summer Day Camp on behalf of the Council. 135 

 136 

D. Fitzpatrick: Regarding the well radius item which you will be considering this evening, Mr. 137 
Garron wants to refer you to the town attorney opinion letter which was distributed and to clarify 138 
that the abutters are no longer the developer; they are private owners. 139 

 140 

T. Tsantoulis motioned to authorize the Council Chair to sign the contract with Granite 141 
YMCA for the 2020 Summer Day Camp on behalf of the Council. A. Walczyk seconded the 142 
motion. 143 

Voted unanimously in favor (9-0).  144 

 145 

PUBLIC INPUT  146 

Mark Miville, 42 Main Street: First, I want to acknowledge that the town is considering a pavilion. 147 
This has been four years in the making. The Hooksettites brought this to me originally and there 148 
is a need for it, especially for seniors who don’t have a lot to go to. Second, I go to the recycling 149 
center once or twice a week and often end up waiting in line because someone has to go in to 150 
write a check. I would like to see a separate line for cans and cardboard, or a way for those 151 
writing checks to move to the side. Thank you. 152 

 153 

Charles Fredette, Bedford: I am speaking on behalf of Merrimack Valley Riders and President 154 
Tom Levesque is with me. We are seeking permission to ride on the Chester Turnpike trail as 155 
part of our annual Classic Charity Trail Ride for Cystic Fibrosis in June of 2020. Those in our 156 

Agenda Item #18.1.

Page 85 of 96

http://www.hooksett.org/


TC MINUTES 10-23-19   4 
 
 
 

organization are respectful of the trails we ride on. We do not tolerate the “poaching” of trails. 157 
Thank you for allowing me to speak. 158 
 159 

BRIEF RECESS 160 

Chair Sullivan called for a five-minute recess. 161 
 162 

OLD BUSINESS 163  164 
Relocation of the Lacrosse wall from Donati Park to Petersbrook Park 165 

 166 

E. Labonte: HYAA is relocating Lacrosse from Donati Park to Petersbrook Park. Scout Duncan 167 
Korkosz is here with his mother to update you on his Eagle Scout project, which is the building of 168 
a lacrosse wall. It will now be a multi-sport wall – one side for Lacrosse and the other for Soccer. 169 
The Town Council accepted this Eagle Scout project on May 22, 2019. 170 

 171 

D. Korkosz: I want to let you know that three-quarters of the fund raising is complete, and I would 172 
now like to locate the wall at Petersbrook Park.  173 

 174 

R. Duhaime: With the location change, will there be less cost? 175 

 176 

D. Korkosz: The cost is the same, regardless of the location. 177 

 178 

A. Comai: Of what material will the wall be constructed? 179 

 180 

D. Korkosz: It is concrete. 181 

 182 

A. Walczyk motioned to recommend and approve the relocation of the Lacrosse wall from 183 
Donati park to Petersbrook Park. J. Levesque seconded the motion.  184 

Voted in favor (8-0). C. Karolian was not present for the vote. 185 

 186 

NOMINATIONS AND APPOINTMENTS 187  188 
October Appointments 189 

 190 

N. Germain: At the September 25, 2019 Town Council meeting, William Herlicka, a business 191 
owner, was nominated to the Conservation Commission as an Alternate, and James Fortin was 192 
nominated as an Alternate to the Planning Board. These appointments fill the remaining 193 
available Alternate spots for their respective bodies. All paperwork is complete. 194 

 195 

T. Tsantoulis motioned to appoint William Herlicka as an Alternate to the Conservation 196 
Commission, term expiring June 30, 2022. J. Durand seconded the motion. 197 

Voted unanimously in favor (9-0). 198 

 199 

T. Tsantoulis motioned to appoint James Fortin as an Alternate to the Planning Board, 200 
term expiring June 30, 2020. J. Durand seconded the motion.  201 

Voted unanimously in favor (9-0). 202 

 203 
R. Durand: This is a good start with the land use boards and committees. 204 
 205 
 206 
OLD BUSINESS (continued) 207 

Surety Release-DAR Builders, LLC Well Radius Surety 208 

Agenda Item #18.1.

Page 86 of 96



TC MINUTES 10-23-19   5 
 
 
 

Nicholas Williams, Town Planner: This request for the release of DAR Builders, LLC’s surety 209 
bond is based on the fact that the owners of the abutting properties are no long owned by the 210 
developer. They are privately owned and the owners are fully informed of the well radius issue. I 211 
will read the opinion of Town Attorney Matt Serge on the issue of Well Radius Waiver Bonds: 212 

 213 

“I have reviewed the Town Charter and cannot find anything that expressly directs the 214 
Town Council to release bonds in this instance. There is a reference to the Town Council 215 
in Section 18.07 (Surety Release Process) in the Town’s Development Regulations. 216 
Under that process, the Town Council must move to approve the release of a surety 217 
collected under the Regulations.  218 

 219 

This is obviously not your typical bond issue, and the Planning Board checklists are clear 220 
that an NHDES waiver is sufficient in lieu of keeping the well radii totally within a 221 
particular property’s boundary lines. Here, if the waiver has been obtained, and the 222 
appropriate official(s) have acknowledged that the waiver is satisfactory, the Town has no 223 
basis for continuing to hold the bond and it should be released. This of course has no 224 
impact on other surety that was collected for the project pertaining to other 225 
improvements. Please note that my opinion is based upon the information in your email, 226 
and if there is other information pertaining to the well issue that I should see, please let 227 
me know.” 228 

. 229 

T. Tsantoulis: My original comments and concerns were based on the fact that the developer 230 
owned the abutting properties. Since that is no longer the case, I have reversed my opinion. 231 

 232 

C. Karolian: The attorney’s opinion left out option one, which is to re-drill the well. 233 

 234 

R. Duhaime motioned to recommend the release of the $6,000 cash surety to DAR 235 
Builders, LLC. T. Tsantoulis seconded the motion. 236 

 237 

A roll call vote was taken on the motion. 238 

 239 

Roll Call Vote #2 240 

R. Duhaime Yes 241 

J Durand Yes 242 

C. Jones Yes 243 

J. Levesque Yes 244 

A. Walczyk Yes 245 

A. Comai Yes 246 

C. Karolian No 247 

T. Tsantoulis Yes 248 

J. Sullivan Yes 249 

Voted in favor (8-1). 250  251  252 
 253 

Health Insurance Renewal Rates Effective January 1, 2020 254 

D. Fitzpatrick: The Town’s annual medical and dental renewal rates effective January 1, 2020 255 
were announced to the Town Council at their October 9, 2019 meeting. All Hooksett medical 256 
plans increased by 3.6% (Health Trust January renewal pool is 7.1%) and all dental plans 257 
increased by 3.9%. The Council voted unanimously to continue the current health and dental 258 
plan options and contributions for 2020 in these categories: non-union employees, retirees under 259 
65 years of age, and retirees 65 years of age and older. Next, we are looking for motions 260 

Agenda Item #18.1.

Page 87 of 96



TC MINUTES 10-23-19   6 
 
 
 

regarding the Fire union employees, the Police union employees and the Public Works union 261 
employees. 262 

 263 

R. Duhaime motioned to maintain the following health plan and dental plan options 264 
effective January 1, 2020 through June 30, 2020 for Fire union employees as contractually 265 
obligated and presented. T. Tsantoulis seconded the motion. 266 

 267 

A roll call vote was taken on the motion. 268 

 269 

Roll Call Vote #3 270 

A. Comai Yes 271 

C. Jones Yes 272 

A. Walczyk Yes 273 

J. Durand Yes 274 

R. Duhaime Yes 275 

T. Tsantoulis Yes 276 

J. Levesque Yes 277 

C. Karolian Yes 278 

J. Sullivan Yes 279 

Voted unanimously in favor (9-0). 280 

 281 

The details are as follows, effective January 1, 2020: 282 

1. BlueChoice POS BC2T10- R10/25/40M10/40/70/3K(L) 283 
a. 16% employee premium contribution 284 
b. allow the employee to establish their own FSA account 285 

 286 

2. HealthTrust-Anthem Blue HMO AB201PDED(01L)-R10/25/40M10/40/70/3K(L) - 287 
$250/$750 288 

a. 16% employee premium contribution 289 
b. allow the employee to establish their own FSA account 290 

 291 
3. HealthTrust-Anthem Lumenos 2500 (01L) $2,500/$5,000 292 

a. no employee premium contribution 293 
b. allow the employee to establish their own HSA account 294 
c. allow the employee to establish their own limited FSA account (dental and vision 295 

only) 296 
 297 

4. Dental plans 1 flx, 2A flx and 5 flx 298 

 299 

 300 

T. Tsantoulis motioned to maintain the following health plan and dental plan options 301 
effective January 1, 2020 through June 30, 2020 for Police union employees as 302 
contractually obligated and presented. J. Durand seconded the motion. 303 

 304 

A roll call vote was taken on the motion. 305 

 306 

Roll Call Vote #4 307 

A. Walczyk Yes 308 

J. Levesque Yes 309 

C. Jones Yes 310 

Agenda Item #18.1.

Page 88 of 96



TC MINUTES 10-23-19   7 
 
 
 

R. Duhaime Yes 311 

J. Durand Yes 312 

C. Karolian Yes 313 

T. Tsantoulis Yes 314 

A. Comai Yes 315 

J. Sullivan Yes 316 

Voted unanimously in favor (9-0). 317 

 318 

The details are as follows, effective January 1, 2020: 319 

 320 

5. HealthTrust-Anthem Blue HMO AB201PDED(01L)-R10/25/40M10/40/70/3K(L) - 321 
$250/$750 322 

a. 19% employee premium contribution 323 
b. allow the employee to establish their own FSA account 324 

 325 
6. HealthTrust-Anthem Blue HMO ABSOS20/40/1KDED(01L)- R10/25/40M10/40/70/55K(L)-326 

$1,000/$3,000 327 
a. no employee premium contribution 328 
b. allow the employee to establish their own FSA account 329 
c. Town pays 50% of deductible through HRA account after the first * below is paid 330 

by the employee 331 
i. *Single plan =- $400 332 
ii. *Two-person plan =  $750 333 
iii. *Family plan = $1,000 334 

 335 
7. HealthTrust-Anthem Lumenos 2500 (01L) $2,500/$5,000 336 

a. no employee premium contribution 337 
b. allow the employee to establish their own HSA account 338 
c. allow the employee to establish their own limited FSA account (dental and vision 339 

only) 340 
 341 

8. Dental plans 1 flx, 2A flx and 5 flx 342 

 343 

T. Tsantoulis motioned to maintain the following health plan and dental plan options 344 
effective January 1, 2020 through December 31, 2020 for Public Works union employees 345 
as contractually obligated and presented. J. Durand seconded the motion.  346 

 347 

A roll call vote was taken on the motion. 348 

 349 

Roll Call Vote #5 350 

T. Tsantoulis Yes 351 

C. Jones Yes 352 

R. Duhaime Yes 353 

A. Walczyk Yes 354 

J. Levesque Yes 355 

C. Karolian Yes 356 

J. Durand Yes 357 

A. Comai Yes 358 

J. Sullivan Yes 359 

Voted unanimously in favor (9-0). 360 

Agenda Item #18.1.

Page 89 of 96



TC MINUTES 10-23-19   8 
 
 
 

 361 

The details are as follows, effective January 1, 2020. 362 

 363 

1. HealthTrust-Anthem Blue HMO AB201PDED(01L)-R10/25/40M10/40/70/3K(L) - 364 
$250/$750 365 

a. 16% employee premium contribution July 1, 2019 to June 30, 2020 366 
b. 17% employee premium contribution July 1, 2020 to December 31, 2020 367 
c. allow the employee to establish their own FSA account 368 

 369 
2. HealthTrust-Anthem Blue HMO ABSOS20/40/1KDED(01L)- R10/25/40M10/40/70/55K(L)-370 

$1,000/$3,000 371 
a. no employee premium contribution 372 
b. allow the employee to establish their own FSA account 373 
c. Town pays 50% of deductible through HRA account after the first * below is paid 374 

by the employee 375 
i. *Single plan =- $400 376 
ii. *Two-person plan =  $750 377 
iii. *Family plan = $1,000 378 

 379 
3. HealthTrust-Anthem Lumenos 2500 (01L) $2,500/$5,000 380 

a. no employee premium contribution 381 
b. allow the employee to establish their own HSA account 382 
c. allow the employee to establish their own limited FSA account (dental and vision 383 

only) 384 
 385 

4. Dental plans 1 flx, 2A flx and 5 flx 386 

 387 

Chair Sullivan motioned to direct the Town Administrator to review HealthTrust health 388 
plan options and dental plan options for effective January 1, 2021. C. Karolian seconded 389 
the motion. 390 

Voted unanimously in favor (9-0). 391 

 392 

A. Walczyk: Are we still in negotiations? 393 

 394 

D. Fitzpatrick: Just to the end of the current contract. Also, the Council can change the 395 
membership of the negotiating committee, if desired. 396 

 397 

J. Durand: I like a mix and having employees involved.  398 

 399 

C. Karolian: Instead of a committee, the negotiations could be taken care of by the 400 
Administration.  401 

 402 

T. Tsantoulis: We do entrust this to the Administrator. Employees could offer input as necessary.  403 

 404 

R. Duhaime: We are asking employees to pay more now. They may want to have input. 405 

 406 

D. Fitzpatrick: Councilor Durand asked me to look into options with Health Trust to provide health 407 
insurance to Town Councilors or other publicly elected officials of the Town. I would like to direct 408 
you to page 60 of your packet. Section (c), as I will quote, allows for adding a new group to the 409 
membership. 410 

 411 

Agenda Item #18.1.

Page 90 of 96



TC MINUTES 10-23-19   9 
 
 
 

 (c) Any publicly elected official of a Member whose term of office is at least one (1) year’s 412 
duration (or official appointed to fill the unexpired term of a publicly elected official) 413 
regardless of his or her scheduled work week if such official is described in one of the 414 
categories as follows: 415 

 (i) Individuals serving on the Governing Body or a Member; or (iii) Officials who serve in 416 
an administrative position of a Member which position is comparable in status to a 417 
department-head level appointed administrator, but which, by law or option of the 418 
Member, is an elected position. Such position shall include, but not be limited to, clerks, 419 
treasurers, tax collectors, road agents and police chiefs. 420 

 421 

C. Karolian motioned not to offer health insurance to any elected official of Hooksett. A. 422 
Comai seconded the motion. 423 

 424 

T. Tsantoulis: This warrants research. 425 

 426 

C. Karolian: Is this an option via Health Trust per their bylaws?  Why is it being presented now? 427 

Are there any other part-time employees receiving health insurance? 428 

 429 

D. Fitzpatrick: This has been an option for a long time. It is being presented now because a 430 
Councilor asked me to look into it. Our part-time employees are not offered health  431 

 432 

J. Durand: I asked for the research. 433 

 434 

C. Karolian: If all elected officials went on the insurance, what would be the cost? 435 

 436 

D. Fitzpatrick: The family plan is about $29,000, less the 15% paid by the employee, so it would 437 
be about $24,000 per elected official. A decision on this must be made by November 6, 2019. 438 
November 15, 2019 is the drop-dead date for all enrollments and decisions. 439 

 440 

Chair Sullivan: I estimate 28 individuals in this category. That is an approximate cost of 441 
$675,000. 442 

 443 

R. Duhaime: We spend a lot of money on health care in this town. We look at raises of maybe 444 
$500 for Town Councilors; this is $24,000. We would have lots of people running for office.  445 

 446 

J. Levesque: Is there a rate sheet available? 447 

 448 

D. Fitzpatrick: I will send out the rate sheet. 449 

 450 

C. Karolian: For transparency, we are looking at about 27 people at a cost to the town of $25,000 451 
each. 452 

 453 

C. Karolian withdrew him motion not to offer health insurance to any elected official of 454 
Hooksett. AC removed his second. 455 

 456 

C. Jones: Can we find out if this requires a change to the Charter? 457 

 458 

R. Duhaime motioned to direct the Town Administrator to look into the cost and the 459 
procedure for providing medical insurance for elected officials. J. Durand seconded the 460 
motion.  461 

Agenda Item #18.1.

Page 91 of 96



TC MINUTES 10-23-19   10 
 
 
 

 462 

A roll call vote was taken on the motion. 463 

 464 

Roll Call Vote #6 465 

J. Durand Yes  466 

J. Levesque Yes 467 

C. Karolian No 468 

A. Comai No 469 

C. Jones Yes 470 

T. Tsantoulis Yes 471 

A. Walczyk No 472 

R. Duhaime Yes 473 

J. Sullivan No 474 

Voted in favor (5-4). 475 

 476 

FY 2020-21 Budget and Warrant Articles 477 

C. Soucie: We are looking for motions to increase the Council’s recommended Health, Dental, 478 
Unemployment and Liability lines. 479 

 480 

R. Duhaime motioned to increase the Council’s recommended Health Insurance lines by 481 
$41,652. T. Tsantoulis seconded the motion. 482 

Voted unanimously in favor (9-0). 483 

 484 

R. Duhaime motioned to increase the Council’s recommended Dental Insurance lines by 485 
$4,059. C. Jones seconded.  486 

Voted in favor (8-0).  T. Tsantoulis was not present for the vote. 487 

 488 

R. Duhaime motioned to increase the Council’s recommended Unemployment line by 489 
$896. T. Tsantoulis seconded the motion. 490 

Voted unanimously in favor (9-0). 491 

 492 

A. Walczyk motioned to increase the Council’s recommended Liability line by $10,378. T. 493 
Tsantoulis seconded the motion. 494 

Voted in favor (8-0). J. Levesque was not present for the vote. 495 

 496 

T. Tsantoulis motioned to pass the revised Council Budget of $17,740,239 to the Budget 497 
Committee. R. Duhaime seconded the motion. 498 

Voted in favor (8-0). J. Levesque was not present for the vote.  499 

 500 

Energy Efficiency Exemption (i.e. Solar Energy) - (tabled at 10/09/19 Town Council 501 
Meeting) 502 

This item remained on the table.  503  504 
 505 

NEW BUSINESS 506  507  508  509 
Selection of a financial institution for the Route 3A Sewer and Other Infrastructure 510 
Improvements borrowing. 511 

 512 

C. Soucie: TD Bank provided the lowest quoted rate, no prepayment penalty, one payment a 513 
year and a flexible closing date. 514 

Agenda Item #18.1.

Page 92 of 96



TC MINUTES 10-23-19   11 
 
 
 

 515 

R. Duhaime motioned to finance the Route 3A Sewer and Other Infrastructure 516 
Improvements with a ten-year note in the amount of $2,500,000 utilizing TD Bank. T. 517 
Tsantoulis seconded the motion. 518 

 519 

C. Karolian: Did you ask all of the financial institutions about a prepayment penalty? 520 

 521 

C. Soucie: No, because they didn’t have lowest rate. 522 

 523 

A roll call vote was taken on the motion. 524 

 525 

Roll Call Vote #7 526 

C. Jones Yes 527 

C. Karolian No 528 

J. Levesque No 529 

R. Duhaime Yes 530 

A. Walczyk No 531 

J. Durand Yes 532 

T. Tsantoulis Yes 533 

A. Comai Yes 534 

J. Sullivan Yes 535 

Voted in favor (6-3). 536 

 537 

 Use of Unassigned Fund Balance to lower 2019 Tax Rate 538 

 539 

Chair Sullivan motioned that State Municipal Aid of $152,392.50 be applied to offsetting 540 
the 2019 tax rate. C. Karolian seconded the motion. 541 

Voted unanimously in favor. 542 

 543 

Chair Sullivan motioned to apply $1,368,000 of the current fund balance to reduce the tax 544 
rate to $21.53 per thousand.  J. Durand seconded the motion. 545 

 546 

C. Jones: I am okay with six percent; 5% might cause sticker shock. 547 

 548 

A. Walczyk: The town’s policy is a minimum of five percent, working toward eight percent. We 549 
should Invest while the economy is good so we can grow the tax base.  550 

 551 

J. Durand called the question. 552 

 553 

A roll call vote was taken on the motion. 554 

 555 

Roll Call Vote #8 556 

J. Levesque Yes 557 

R. Duhaime No 558 

T. Tsantoulis No 559 

A. Walczyk No 560 

J. Durand Yes 561 

C. Jones Yes 562 

A. Comai Yes 563 

Agenda Item #18.1.

Page 93 of 96



TC MINUTES 10-23-19   12 
 
 
 

C. Karolian No 564 

J. Sullivan Yes 565 

Voted in favor (5-4). 566 

 567 

Tax Bill Newsletter Approval 568 

 569 

T. Tsantoulis motioned to authorize the Administration to send out a Fall Newsletter with 570 
the Fall Tax Bill (as amended as necessary). A. Comai seconded the motion. 571 

Voted in favor (7-0). J. Durand and C. Karolian were not present for the vote. 572  573 
 574 

APPROVAL OF MINUTES 575  576 
Public: 10/09/2019 577 

 578 

T. Tsantoulis motioned to approve the public minutes of the October 9, 2019 Council 579 
meeting. R. Duhaime seconded the motion. 580 

 581 

Chair Sullivan: Are there any corrections? 582 

 583 

Chair Sullivan: On page 2, Line 81, I did not say “…the area where I live…” I said “Sample Area 584 
One.” 585 

 586 

Chair Sullivan called for a vote on the motion to approve the public minutes of the October 9, 587 
2019 meeting as amended. 588 

 589 

Voted unanimously in favor (9-0). 590 

 591  592  593 
Non-Public: 10/09/2019 594 

 595 

T. Tsantoulis motioned to approve the minutes of the October 9, 2019 non-public session. 596 
R. Duhaime seconded the motion. 597 

Voted unanimously in favor (9-0). 598  599 
 600 

SUB-COMMITTEE REPORTS 601 

 602 

Chair Sullivan: The Heritage Commission has received a grant for refurbishing an old town map, 603 
probably done before 1842. The Library will be hosting a presentation on Tuesday, October 29th 604 
at 6:30 pm titled “Harnessing History: On the Trail of New Hampshire’s State Dog, the Chinook.” 605 
The program is sponsored by the NH Humanities Council and looks at how dog sledding 606 
developed in New Hampshire and how the Chinook played a major role. 607 

 608 

R. Duhaime: The Budget Committee has reviewed several of the smaller budgets. The Planning 609 
Board reviewed a subdivision, requiring vegetation screening where it was needed. They also 610 
discussed architectural guidelines, and there was a lot of debate on that issue. As an example, 611 
we have O’Reilly Auto parts next to the Heritage Bank. Again, the need for follow-through was 612 
emphasized. I attended a Sewer meeting which featured a presentation on plant improvements. 613 

 614 

A. Walczyk: Parks & Rec is working on the Pavilion. 615 

 616 

Agenda Item #18.1.

Page 94 of 96



TC MINUTES 10-23-19   13 
 
 
 

T. Tsantoulis: The HYA Committee has selected a Youth Achiever for the month of October. The 617 
Assessors will be meeting with an attorney to discuss the issues of a disgruntled taxpayer. 618 

 619 

A. Comai: The Conservation Commission is looking at plots of land available by donation behind 620 
the Cawley School. They also considered donations for park benches.  621 

 622 

Chair Sullivan closed the public hearing on the removal of the Taxi Cab Ordinance at 9:23 pm. 623 

 624 

NON-PUBLIC SESSION NH RSA 91-A:3, II  625 

 626 

R. Duhaime motioned to enter non-public session on 10/23/19 at 9:25 pm in accordance 627 
with the provisions of RSA 91-A:3, II (a). Seconded by J. Levesque.  628 

 629 

RSA 91-A:3, II (a) The dismissal, promotion, or compensation of any public employee or the 630 
disciplining of such employee, or the investigation of any charges against him or her, unless the 631 
employee affected (1) has a right to a public meeting, and (2) requests that he meeting be open, 632 
in which case the request shall be granted. 633 

 634 

Roll Call Vote #9 635 

J. Durand Yes 636 

A Comai Yes 637 

C. Jones Yes 638 

R. Duhaime Yes 639 

C. Karolian Yes 640 

A. Walczyk Yes 641 

T. Tsantoulis Yes 642 

J. Levesque Yes 643 

J. Sullivan Yes 644 

Voted unanimously in favor. 645 

 646 

J. Sullivan motion to exit the non-public session of 10/23/19. Seconded by A. Comai. 647 

Voted unanimously in favor (8-0). J. Levesque was not present, having left the meeting at 648 
10:14 pm.  649 

 650 

Back in public session at 10:25 pm 651 

 652 

J. Sullivan motioned to seal the minutes of the non-public session because it is 653 
determined that divulgence of this information likely would render a proposed action 654 
ineffective. Seconded by A. Comai.  655 

 656 

Roll Call Vote #10 657 

C. Karolian Yes 658 

T. Tsantoulis Yes 659 

J. Levesque Not present 660 

C. Jones Yes 661 

A. Comai Yes 662 

J. Durand Yes 663 

A. Walczyk Yes 664 

R. Duhaime Yes 665 

Agenda Item #18.1.

Page 95 of 96



TC MINUTES 10-23-19   14 
 
 
 

J. Sullivan Yes 666 

Voted unanimously in favor (8-0). 667 

 668 

ADJOURNMENT 669 

 670 

J. Sullivan motioned to adjourn the public session of 10/23/19 at 10:26 pm.  Seconded by 671 
T. Tsantoulis.  Voted in favor (8-0).  J. Levesque left meeting at 10:14 pm. 672 

 673 

Respectfully submitted, 674 

 675 

Kathleen Donnelly 676 

Kathleen Donnelly 677 

Recording Clerk 678 

 679 

Agenda Item #18.1.

Page 96 of 96


	Agenda
	10.1. Staff Report - SR-19-190 - Pdf
	11.1. Staff Report - SR-19-183 - Pdf
	36 Churchill As-Built
	36 Churchill Drive E-mail to Release TCO
	36 Churchill Drive NHDES Waiver

	16.1. Staff Report - SR-19-184 - Pdf
	Taxicab Ordinance
	Taxicab Ordinance with strikethrough
	Taxicab ordinance legal opinion

	16.2. NH SOLAR AND WINDS
	16.3. Staff Report - SR-19-189 - Pdf
	16.3. ADM CODE ELECTED 110619
	16.3. 2020 NON-UNION HEALTH INSURANCE RATE SHEET
	16.3. 2020 DENTAL INSURANCE RATES
	16.3. 2020 retiree health ins premiums 010120
	16.3. 2020 retiree dental ins premiums 010120
	16.4. Staff Report - SR-19-188 - Pdf
	Deliberative Minutes

	17.1. Staff Report - SR-19-191 - Pdf
	17.2. Staff Report - SR-19-187 - Pdf
	Quarterly Report

	17.3. Staff Report - SR-19-185 - Pdf
	Pavilion Staff Report

	18.1. tc_minutes_102319

